
EMERGENCY EVACUATION INSTRUCTIONS 
If you hear the alarm, leave the building immediately.  Follow the green signs.  Use the stairs 
not the lifts.  Do not re-enter the building until told to do so. 

Notice of Meeting 

Executive – Advisory Meeting 
Councillor Bettison OBE (Chairman),  
Councillor Dr Barnard (Vice-Chairman),  
Councillors D Birch, Brunel-Walker, Harrison, Mrs Hayes MBE, 
Heydon and Turrell 

Tuesday 19 October 2021, 5.00 pm 
Online Only - Via MST 

 
 

Agenda 

Recommendations arising from this meeting will be considered in accordance with the 
delegations approved by Council on 28 April 2021. 

Item Description Page 

1.  Apologies   

2.  Declarations of Interest   

 Members are asked to declare any Disclosable Pecuniary or Affected 
Interests in respect of any matter to be considered at this meeting. 
 
Any Member with a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in a matter should 
withdraw from the meeting when the matter is under consideration and 
should notify the Democratic Services Officer in attendance that they are 
withdrawing as they have such an interest. If the Disclosable Pecuniary 
Interest is not entered on the register of Members interests the Monitoring 
Officer must be notified of the interest within 28 days. 
 
Any Member with an Affected Interest in a matter must disclose the interest 
to the meeting.  There is no requirement to withdraw from the meeting when 
the interest is only an affected interest, but the Monitoring Officer should be 
notified of the interest, if not previously notified of it, within 28 days of the 
meeting. 

 

3.  Minutes  5 - 6 

 To consider and approve the minutes of the meeting of the Executive held on 
21 September 2021.  

 

4.  Urgent Items of Business   

 Any other items which, pursuant to Section 100B(4)(b) of the Local 
Government Act 1972, the Chairman decides are urgent. 

 

Executive Key Decisions 

The items listed below all relate to Key Executive decisions, unless stated otherwise below. 

5.  Revised Local Development Scheme, 2021-2024  7 - 38 

 To agree a revised Local Development Scheme containing updated 
timetables for producing Local Plans in Bracknell Forest. This fulfills the 

 



EMERGENCY EVACUATION INSTRUCTIONS 
If you hear the alarm, leave the building immediately.  Follow the green signs.  Use the stairs 
not the lifts.  Do not re-enter the building until told to do so. 

statutory requirement to publish an up to date Local Development Scheme 
on the website so that local communities and interested parties can keep 
track of progress of Local Plans being prepared in an area. 

Reporting: Andrew Hunter 

6.  Making (adoption) of the Bracknell Town Neighbourhood Plan 2016-
2036  

39 - 64 

 To agree that the Bracknell Town Neighbourhood Plan is ‘made’ if the 
majority of those who vote at the referendum on the Neighbourhood Plan are 
in favour of Bracknell Forest Council using the Neighbourhood Plan to help 
decide planning applications in the Bracknell Town neighbourhood area. 
 
Reporting: Andrew Hunter 

 

7.  Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman Annual Review Letter  65 - 70 

 To provide an overview and commentary on the Local Government and 
Social Care Ombudsman (LGSCO) annual review letter. 

Reporting: Timothy Wheadon 

 

8.  Council Plan Overview Report  71 - 98 

 To inform the Executive of the performance of the council for Q1 2021/22 

Reporting: Timothy Wheadon 

 

9.  Exclusion of Public and Press   

 To consider the following motion: 
 
That pursuant to Regulation 4 of the Local Authorities (Executive 
Arrangements) (Access to Information) Regulations 2012  and having regard 
to the public interest, members of the public and press be excluded from the 
meeting for the consideration of items 10, 11 & 12 which involves the likely 
disclosure of exempt information under the following category of Schedule 
12A of the Local Government Act 1972: 
 
(3) Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any 

particular person (including the authority holding that information). 
 
NB: No representations were received in response to the 28 day notice of 

a private meeting.  

 

10.  Market Street Options Report  99 - 180 

 To consider the options report for the Council for "Block D" as part of the 
Market Street development. 

Reporting: Stuart McKellar 

 

11.  Buckler’s Park Community Hub and Facilities  181 - 200 



EMERGENCY EVACUATION INSTRUCTIONS 
If you hear the alarm, leave the building immediately.  Follow the green signs.  Use the stairs 
not the lifts.  Do not re-enter the building until told to do so. 

 To seek approval for the transfer of the Buckler’s Park Community Hub and 
facilities to the Council and consider the options for the management of these 
facilities. 

Reporting: Andrew Hunter 

 

12.  Binfield Community and Health Care Hub  201 - 224 

 To provide an update on the progress of the Binfield Community and Health 
Care Hub scheme and the supporting financial summary.  

Reporting: Andrew Hunter 

 

Sound recording, photographing, filming and use of social media is permitted.  Please 
contact Hannah Stevenson, 01344 352308, hannah.stevenson@bracknell-forest.gov.uk, so 
that any special arrangements can be made. 

Published: 11 October 2021 



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

EXECUTIVE – ADVISORY MEETING 
21 SEPTEMBER 2021 
5.00  - 5.40 PM 

  

Present: 
Councillors Dr Barnard (Vice-Chairman, in the Chair), Brunel-Walker, Harrison, 
Mrs Hayes MBE, Heydon and Turrell 

Apologies for absence were received from: 
Councillors Bettison OBE 

Also Present: 
Councillors Temperton  

179. Declarations of Interest  

Councillor Brunel-Walker declared an interest in relation to agenda number 10 being 
one of the Council’s representatives on the Bracknell Forest Cambium Partnership 
and would leave the meeting for the item.  
 
Councillor Heydon declared an interest in relation to agenda number 10 being one of 
the Council’s representatives on the Bracknell Forest Cambium Partnership and 
would leave the meeting for the item.  

180. Minutes  

RESOLVED that the minutes of the meeting of the Executive on 31 August 2021 
together with the accompanying decision records be confirmed as a correct record 
and signed by the Leader. 

181. Executive Decisions  

The Executive discussed the following items in an advisory capacity and made the  
following recommendations to the appropriate executive members who were to make  
the formal decisions under the powers delegated to them by the Leader:  

182. Overview and Scrutiny Review of Food Waste in Flats and HMOs  

RECOMMENED to the Executive Member for the Environment to consider whether to 
agree the Environment and Communities Overview & Scrutiny Panel’s 
recommendations as set out in the Panel report (attached as Appendix A) and 
paragraph 5.5, taking into account the comments of the Statutory Scrutiny Officer. 

183. Overview and Scrutiny Review of Blue Badges  

RECOMMENDED to the Executive Member for Adult Services, Health & Housing: 
 
To consider whether to agree the Wellbeing and Finance Overview & Scrutiny 
Panel’s recommendations as set out in the Panel report (attached as Appendix A) 
and paragraph 5.5, taking into account the comments of the Statutory Scrutiny 
Officer. 

5

Agenda Item 3



 

 

184. Residents’ COVID-19 Impact Survey 2021  

RECOMMENDED to the Executive Member of Council Strategy and Community 
Cohesion: 
 

i. To note the Covid-19 Impact Survey 2021 results report. 
 

ii. To endorse the communications plan. 
 

185. Council Plan Overview Report  

RECOMMENDED to the Executive Member for Council Strategy and Community 
Cohesion: 
 

i. To note the performance of the council over the period from January-March 
2021 highlighted in the Overview Report. 

186. Exclusion of Public and Press  

RESOLVED that pursuant to Regulation 21 of the Local Authorities (Executive 
Arrangements) (Access to Information) Regulations 2000, members of the public and 
press be excluded from the meeting for the consideration of item 10 which involves 
the likely disclosure of exempt information under the following category of Schedule 
12A of the Local Government Act 1972: 
 
(3) Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person 

(including the authority). 

187. Surplus Land - Depot Site  

RECOMMENDED to the Executive Member for Council Strategy and Community 
Cohesion 
 

i. To offer the surplus land to be created by re-development of the Commercial 
Centre to the Bracknell Forest Cambium Partnership (the Joint Venture)) for 
development, subject to the satisfactory approval by the Executive of an Initial 
Site Development Plan within a 12 month exclusivity period commencing on 1 
October 2021;  
 

ii. In the event that a Site Development Plan is not approved within the 12 
month period, that the surplus land is sold on the open market for the 
best available consideration and this process is delegated to Assistant 
Director: Property. 

CHAIRMAN 

6



Unrestricted 

1 

 

TO: EXECUTIVE  
 19 OCTOBER 2021 
  

 
REVISED LOCAL DEVELOPMENT SCHEME 

2021 - 2024 
Director of Place, Planning and Regeneration 

 

1 PURPOSE OF REPORT 

1.1 The purpose of this report is to seek the Executive’s approval to bring a revised Local 
Development Scheme (LDS) into effect covering the period 2021 - 2024.   

 
1.2 The Council’s work programme for preparing local plans is set out in the Local 

Development Scheme. The current LDS (2021-2024), February 2021 sets out 
timetables for the preparation of the: 

 Bracknell Forest Local Plan, 

 Joint Minerals and Waste Local Plan (covering Bracknell Forest, Wokingham 
Borough, Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead and Reading Borough), 
and 

 Policies Map.  
 

1.3 Due to changes in circumstance since the current LDS was agreed, particularly 
around the submission of the Bracknell Forest Local Plan, it will not be possible to 
meet the outstanding milestones set out in the document.  

2 RECOMMENDATION 

2.1 That the Executive resolves that the Local Development Scheme 2021 – 2024 
(October 2021), attached as Appendix A, shall come into effect on 27th October 
2021.  

 

3 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION 

3.1 The Council is required to maintain an up to date LDS on its website.  Preparation 
and approval of an up to date LDS aims to give residents, businesses and potential 
investors a clear indication of the timetable that the Council is working to in respect of 
the production of local development documents. It provides a starting point for 
stakeholders to see at what stages they can get involved in compiling these 
documents. The current version of the LDS does not contain up to date timetables for 
the local plans that are being prepared. 

4 ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED 

4.1 The option of not updating the LDS has been considered, but there is a statutory 
requirement1 for an up to date LDS. Due to the changes set out below, it is not 
possible to keep to the timelines set out in the current LDS.  Additionally, not 
publishing an up to date LDS would mean a lack of clarity for local residents, 
developers and the business community about the Council’s intended approach to 
producing planning policies to guide future development.  

                                                
1 Section 15 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act requires the Council to prepare and 
maintain a Local Development Scheme 

7

Agenda Item 5



Unrestricted 

2 

 

5 SUPPORTING INFORMATION 

Background 

5.1 National policy requires each local planning authority to have succinct and up-to-date 
local plans for the future development of their local areas. There is a statutory 
requirement2 to review policies in local plans and to assess whether they need 
updating at least once every five years. They should then be updated as necessary. 
Account must be taken of changing circumstances affecting an area, or any relevant 
changes in national policy.  

 
5.2 The Development Plan for the Borough currently comprises the following documents:   

 South East Plan (May 2009) – Thames Basin Heaths Special Protection Area 
Policy NRM6 only   

 Saved policies in the Bracknell Forest Borough Local Plan (BFBLP) (2002)   

 Core Strategy (February 2008) 

 Saved policies in the Replacement Minerals Local Plan (2001) and Waste Local 
Plans (1998)   

 Site Allocations Local Plan (SALP) (2013) 

 Policies Map (2013) 
 

Local Development Scheme agreed in February 2021 
 

5.3 The current LDS (February 2019) identifies programmes for the preparation and 
adoption of the following new documents:  

 Bracknell Forest Local Plan (target date for adoption: Spring 2022)   

 Joint Minerals and Waste Local Plan (target date for adoption: Winter 2021/Spring 
2022 )   

 Policies Map (to be progressed alongside the timetables for the Bracknell Forest 
Local Plan and the Joint Minerals and Waste Local Plan). 

 
Changes since the February 2921 LDS was brought into effect 
 
Bracknell Forest Local Plan 

5.4  Whilst much work has already been undertaken, progress on the Bracknell Forest 
Local Plan has been delayed for a number of reasons which are summarised below:  

 

 Extension of the originally planned consultation period to allow more time for 
responses to be submitted. 

 Further Duty to Co-operate work has been undertaken with relevant bodies. 

 Time taken to prepare proposed modifications to the plan and carry out 
sustainability appraisal of them. 

 The need for updated/more evidence on certain issues due to contextual 
changes and the publication of new data. 

 
Joint Minerals and Waste Local Plan 

5.5 This plan has now been submitted and examination hearings were held in September 
2021.  The programme has been slightly modified to reflect progress to date but the 
key milestones have not changed.    

 
 Suggested new timeline 
 

                                                
2 Regulation 10A of the Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012).   

8



Unrestricted 

3 

 

5.7 Due to the changes in circumstance summarised in paragraph 5.4 new dates for 
subsequent milestones of the Bracknell Forest Local Plan are required. The 
suggested timescales are set out below, although they incorporate some flexibility 
should circumstances change.  They will also depend in part on the availability of a 
suitable planning inspector to carry out the Local Plan Examination. 

 
 
Bracknell Forest Local Plan 

 Submission: Autumn 2021 

 Examination: Autumn/Winter 2021/22 

 Report to Council/adoption: Summer/Autumn 2022 
 

Joint Minerals and Waste Local Plan 

 Examination: Autumn/Winter 2021/22 

 Report to Council/Adoption: Early Summer 2022 
 
 
Policies Map 
 

 A Policies Map must also be produced which illustrates geographically how the 
policies in the Local Plans will be applied. This will be developed alongside the 
relevant plans. 

6 CONSULTATION AND OTHER CONSIDERATIONS 

 Legal advice (to be confirmed) 

6.1 Section 15 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (as amended) 
requires local planning authorities to prepare and maintain an LDS. This must specify 
(amongst other matters) the development plan documents that are under 
preparation, including the subject matter and geographical areas to which they relate. 
To bring the scheme into effect, the local planning authority must resolve that the 
scheme is to have effect and in the resolution specify the date from which the 
scheme is to have effect. The LDS must be made publicly available through the 
publication on a web site and kept up to date. 
 

Financial advice (to be confirmed) 

6.2 The costs of developing the local plans, including staffing requirements, consultancy, 
consultation and examination will be met through existing budgets which have been 
reviewed and amended as part of the 2021/22 budget setting process to fully 
accommodate the programme costs. In the case of the Joint Minerals and Waste 
Local Plan, Bracknell Forest Council, Wokingham Borough Council, Royal Borough 
of Windsor and Maidenhead and Reading Borough Council have commissioned 
Hampshire Services to prepare the Plan on their behalf. The cost of the project is 
being shared equally amongst the four Authorities.   

 Equalities Impact Assessment 

6.3 Since this report concerns amendments to timetables for committed local plans, 
rather than new local plans, it is not necessary to complete an Equalities Screening 
Record Form. 

 
 Strategic Risk Management Issues  

9



Unrestricted 

4 

 

6.4 The main risks to achieving and implementing the LDS timetable are the potential for 

further national legislative, policy and guidance changes, and the timetable for 

examination of Local Plans being set by the Planning Inspectorate (and not by BFC).  

   
 
 Consultation requirements 

6.5 There is no statutory requirement to consult on an LDS due to the nature of the 
document. 

6.6 Local plans have to follow prescribed procedures and are subject to wide public 
consultation and ultimately independent public examination before they can be 
adopted. Various methods of engagement have already been used, including 
exhibitions, leaflets, the Council’s website, letters and press releases, as appropriate. 
A considerable amount of consultation has already been undertaken on both local 
plans and their associated evidence base studies.  

 

 

Appendices 

Appendix A Local Development Scheme 2021 – 2024 

 

Background Papers 

Local Development Scheme 2021 – 2024 (February 2021 version) 

https://www.bracknell-forest.gov.uk/planning-and-building-control/planning/planning-
policy/about-planning-policy  
 
Contact for further information 
Max Baker, Head of Planning – 01344 351902  
Max.Baker@bracknell-forest.gov.uk 

10

mailto:Max.Baker@bracknell-forest.gov.uk


Local Development Scheme 
2021-2024 

Bracknell Forest Council 
https://www.bracknell-forest.gov.uk/ 
October 2021 11

https://www.bracknell-forest.gov.uk


1

2

3

4

5

6

Purpose of a Local Development Scheme 1 

Current Development Plan 2 

Planned documents 6 

Risk assessment 17 

Monitoring and review 20 

Glossary of terms 21 

www.bracknell-forest.gov.uk/planningpolicy 12

www.bracknell-forest.gov.uk/planningpolicy


1 Purpose of a Local Development 
Scheme 
Context 

1.1 The Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (as amended by the Planning Act 
2008 and Localism Act 2011) requires a Local Planning Authority to prepare and maintain 
a Local Development Scheme (LDS) which is effectively a three-year work program for all 
Local Plan documents. Its main purposes are: 

to inform the local community and other interested parties of the development plan 
documents that are being prepared for the area, along with the envisaged timescales 
for their preparation. 
to establish the Council’s priorities for the preparation of the new development plan 
documents and their associated work programmes, as well as their impact on resources 
(including financial). 

1.2 This LDS supersedes the previous version dated February 2021 and deals with 
the three-year period up to Winter 2024. This LDS takes effect from 27th October 2021. 

1.3 Since the publication of the last LDS in February 2021, there have been changes 
in circumstance which have resulted in the need to revise milestones set out in the LDS. 

www.bracknell-forest.gov.uk/planningpolicy 1 13

www.bracknell-forest.gov.uk/planningpolicy


2 Current Development Plan 
Development Plan for Bracknell Forest 

2.1 The Development Plan guides planning decisions and ensures these are rational and 
consistent, having regard to material considerations. Documents forming the Development 
Plan require updating to ensure decisions are made based on up-to-date planning policies 
and that future needs are appropriately planned for. The revised National Planning Policy 
Framework (NPPF) (2021) and accompanying Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) are material 
considerations but do not form part of the Development Plan. The Development Plan for 
Bracknell Forest comprises the documents listed below which can be found on the Council’s 
website(1) .

South East Plan 

2.2 The South East Plan (SEP) was approved in May 2009. However, most of its content 
was revoked in March 2013, with the exception of Policy NRM6 which is concerned with the 
Thames Basins Heaths Special Protection Area (SPA). 

Core Strategy 

2.3 The Core Strategy was adopted in 2008. It is an overarching document which sets out 
the Council's long-term planning framework and vision for the Borough up to 2026. 

Site Allocations Local Plan 

2.4 The Site Allocations Local Plan (SALP) was adopted in 2013. The primary purpose of 
the SALP was to identify sites to meet the housing requirement of 11,139 dwellings between 
2006 and 2026, as set out in the Core Strategy. It therefore allocated sites for a further 4,346 
dwellings, including previously developed and greenfield sites that were outside defined 
settlement boundaries. 

Bracknell Forest Borough Local Plan 

2.5 The Bracknell Forest Borough Local Plan (BFBLP) was adopted in January 2002. It 
contains a number of detailed development management policies that were "saved" by the 
Secretary of State beyond 27 September 2007(2). Although some of these policies have 
subsequently been superseded by polices in the Core Strategy and Site Allocations Local 
Plan, many remain in effect. These remain part of the Development Plan until such time as 
they are replaced by new policies. 

Minerals and Waste Local Plans 

2.6 The Replacement Minerals Local Plan for Berkshire (RMLP) was adopted by the former 
County Council in 1995, with alterations adopted in 1997 and 2001 to include the areas of 
Colnbrook and Poyle. It was intended to ensure that minerals were extracted at the right 
pace throughout the plan period (until 2006), and that there were enough planning permissions 
for mineral extraction at the end of that period for a further seven years of extraction (to the 
end of 2013). The Plan also contains a number of development management policies. The 
Waste Local Plan for Berkshire (WLPB) was adopted in 1998. It looked at where new waste 
1 http://www.bracknell-forest.gov.uk/developmentplan 
2 https://www.bracknell-forest.gov.uk/planning-and-building-control/planning/planning-policy/development-plan/local-plan-2002 

www.bracknell-forest.gov.uk/planningpolicy 2 14

http://www.bracknell-forest.gov.uk/developmentplan
https://www.bracknell-forest.gov.uk/planning-and-building-control/planning/planning-policy/development-plan/local-plan-2002
www.bracknell-forest.gov.uk/planningpolicy


management facilities should be provided and methods of disposing of waste. The majority 
of the policies introduced by the RMLP and the WLPB were "saved" by the Secretary of 
State indefinitely until replaced by national, regional or local minerals and waste policies(3) .

Neighbourhood Plans 

2.7 The Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations 2012 include the process and 
procedures for setting up Neighbourhood Areas, preparing Neighbourhood Development 
Plans, and Neighbourhood Development Orders (including Community Right to Build Orders). 
The first step in the neighbourhood planning process is for the 'relevant body' to apply to the 
local planning authority for the designation of a Neighbourhood Area. Any plan or order 
needs to meet the 'basic conditions' set out in paragraph 8(2) of Schedule 4B of the Town 
and Country Planning Act 1990. These include the need to contribute to the achievement 
of sustainable development and to be in general conformity with the strategic policies of the 
Development Plan. Once the independent Examiner has issued the report, the Local Planning 
Authority considers it to reach its own view and then take a decision on whether to send the 
plan/order to local referendum. If more than 50% of the votes are in favour of the plan/order, 
then the Council 'makes' the plan/order. It will then form part of the Development Plan and 
be taken into account when making decisions on planning applications in the area. 

2.8 Six Neighbourhood Areas have been designated by the Council covering the following 
Parish/Town Councils: 

Binfield 
Bracknell 
Crowthorne 
Sandhurst 
Warfield 
Winkfield 

2.9 This means that there is the potential for the whole of Bracknell Forest to be covered 
by Neighbourhood Plans. As they are not prepared by the Council and their timetables are 
dependent on the progress made by the respective communities, they cannot be included 
in the LDS. At the time of preparing this LDS, progress was as follows. 

2.10 The Binfield Neighbourhood Plan (April 2016) was brought into legal force 
following a successful referendum in March 2016. It now forms part of the statutory 
Development Plan for Bracknell Forest. 

2.11 The Crowthorne Neighbourhood Plan was brought into legal force following a 
successful referendum in May 2021. It now forms part of the statutory Development 
Plan for Bracknell Forest. 

2.12 The Bracknell Town Neighbourhood Plan has also undergone examination and 

the Examiner’s Report is available on the Council’s website(4). The Examiner’s Report 
recommended that the Bracknell Town Neighbourhood Plan be sent to 
referendum subject to the implementation of the Examiner’s recommendations.

3 https://www.bracknell-forest.gov.uk/planning-and-building-control/planning/planning-policy/development-plan/minerals-and-waste 
4 https://www.bracknell-forest.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/bracknell-town-neighbourhood-plan-examiners-report.pdf 

www.bracknell-forest.gov.uk/planningpolicy 3 15

https://www.bracknell-forest.gov.uk/planning-and-building-control/planning/planning-policy/development-plan/minerals-and-waste
https://www.bracknell-forest.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/bracknell-town-neighbourhood-plan-examiners-report.pdf
www.bracknell-forest.gov.uk/planningpolicy


 The Bracknell Town Neighbourhood Plan passed a referendum held on 9th September 
2021.   At the time of preparing this LDS, the Bracknell Town Neighbourhood Plan 
was programmed to be 'made' following a meeting of the Council's Executive to be 
held on 19 October 2021.  

2.13 The Warfield Neighbourhood Plan is at examination. 

2.14 Sandhurst Town Council and Winkfield Parish Council have not yet reached the 
stage of publishing draft plans for consultation. 
Other documents 

2.15 The Development Plan is supplemented by other documents as outlined below. 
However, local planning authorities do not need to specify timetables for producing ‘other’ 
planning documents in their LDS. 

Supplementary Planning Documents (SPDs) 

2.16 These provide more advice to explain the policies and proposals set out in Local 
Plans. Unlike Local Plans, their preparation is not subject to examination, although 
consultation is a key element of their preparation. Examples of adopted SPDs that the Council 
has are Design, Planning Obligations and Parking. 

2.17 The Council is aware that it is useful for the community to know the Council’s intentions in 
respect of SPDs. Consequently, a summary of adopted SPDs and a list of those that the 
Council is proposing to prepare and review are available on the web site in a separate 
document titled ‘Quick Guide to Planning Policy and Guidance'(5). This approach has 
been taken to enable the list to be updated on a more regular basis. 

Statement of Community Involvement (SCI) 
2.18 The SCI was adopted in February 2014. It sets out the standards and approach the 
Council takes to involving individuals, groups and organisations in preparing or revising 
policy documents and considering planning applications. A review of the SCI has commenced 
and found no fundamental problems. However, the process has been impacted by the 
Covid19 restrictions and rapidly changing government legislation and advice. As a result of 
this, the Council has published a temporary changes addendum to the SCI which addresses 
Covid19 related issues. This ensures that the Council can continue its statutory planning 
functions, in particular making progress with local development documents and neighbourhood 
plans. 

2.19 There is no requirement in legislation for local planning authorities to consult when 
reviewing and updating their SCI, although normally Bracknell Forest follows good practice 
and informs the public of its intentions to update the document and the changes that have 
been made. 

Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) 

2.20 The Council adopted CIL in April 2015. CIL is a locally set charge on development. It 
provides greater certainty to developers over how much their development will need to 
contribute towards meeting the costs of infrastructure. It is intended to supplement other 

funding streams to ensure that new community infrastructure can be provided to mitigate 

www.bracknell-forest.gov.uk/planningpolicy 

5

            https://www.bracknell-forest.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/quick-guide-planning-policy-march-2019.pdf

4 16

https://www.bracknell-forest.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/quick-guide-planning-policy-march-2019.pdf
www.bracknell-forest.gov.uk/planningpolicy


impacts of local growth and give communities more choice and flexibility in how they 
fund infrastructure. The CIL is supported by a detailed Charging Schedule which sets out 
the CIL rate for specific types of development in different zones in Bracknell Forest. 

2.21 The following documents help explain the Council’s CIL charging regime: 

CIL Charging Schedule - sets out the CIL rates and charging zones 
CIL Instalment Policy - according to the amount of CIL payable, this sets out when 
payment to the Council will be due 
CIL ‘Regulation 123’ list - lists those infrastructure types and projects to be funded 
wholly or partly by CIL 

2.22 Further information is available on the Council's website(6) .

Authority Monitoring Report (AMR) 

2.23 See Section 5 below. 

Background Evidence 

2.24 Local Plans are prepared using a range of evidence (including primary data) prepared 
by the Council and by consultants on behalf of the Council. The purpose of establishing an 
evidence base is to ensure that all future planning policies and decisions are based on robust 
and up-to-date information. The importance of local planning authorities having an up to 
date, relevant and robust evidence base is emphasised in national planning policy (NPPF). 
These documents will also provide the evidence for supporting the Council’s position through 
the planning application process. The preparation of the new Local Plans specified in this 
LDS provides the opportunity to review existing evidence and update and expand on elements 
of it, where necessary. 

https://www.bracknell-forest.gov.uk/planning-and-building-control/planning/planning-policy/ 
community-infrastructure-levy/what-community-infrastructure-levy 

www.bracknell-forest.gov.uk/planningpolicy 

6 

5 17

https://www.bracknell-forest.gov.uk/planning-and-building-control/planning/planning-policy/community-infrastructure-levy/what-community-infrastructure-levy
https://www.bracknell-forest.gov.uk/planning-and-building-control/planning/planning-policy/community-infrastructure-levy/what-community-infrastructure-levy
www.bracknell-forest.gov.uk/planningpolicy


3 Planned documents 
Local Plan Regulations 

3.1 The Town and Country (Local Plan) (England) Regulations 2012 came into force on 
6 April 2012. These Regulations (and subsequent amendments) prescribe the form and 
content of a Local Plan and Policies Map and set out procedural arrangements for preparing 
Local Plans. They also list the prescribed bodies in relation to the Duty to Co-operate 
(Regulation 4), the requirements in relation to the Authority Monitoring Report (Regulation 
34) and set out how information should be made available for inspection. Local Plans are
prepared in accordance with a regulatory process. The process includes consultation with
the community and stakeholders, as guided by the Council’s SCI.

3.2 The four main stages in the preparation of a Local Plan are: 

a. The pre-production stage, including evidence gathering by the Council on key issues
and development options, and consulting statutory bodies on the scope of the Local
plan.

b. The production stage, including public and stakeholder consultation by the Council on
the development issues and options, and the scope of the Local Plan and the
consideration of consultation responses.

c. The submission and examination stage, where the Council submits the Local Plan to
the Secretary of State and it is subject to scrutiny by an independent Planning Inspector
who will assess it for its the legal compliance and soundness.

d. Finally, the adoption stage, when the Local Plan formally becomes part of the
development plan.

Bracknell Forest Local Plan 

3.3 Work will continue on the preparation of a Bracknell Forest Local Plan (BFLP) and 
associated Policies Map in accordance with the timetable set out within this section. 

3.4 This will: 

cover the period to 2037; 

support the 'Recovery and Renewal Plan' and economic strategies produced by the 
Thames Valley Local Enterprise Partnership (LEP) and the Council; 

identify the role of Bracknell Forest, following the partial revocation of the SEP; 

give confidence to investors and help leverage funding for any infrastructure needed 
to support a vision for the future; 

include policies to meet the requirements of the NPPF and PPG; 

be informed by a robust and up to date evidence base, including an assessment of 
housing needs (including Travellers), economic needs and recreational needs; 

include any site allocations to meet identified needs over the plan period to ensure 
development is well-planned; 

www.bracknell-forest.gov.uk/planningpolicy 6 18

www.bracknell-forest.gov.uk/planningpolicy


include policies to guide the delivery of development; 

include policies to fill ‘policy gaps’ left as a result of the revocation of the SEP such as 
heritage and green infrastructure; and, 

include a review of policies following changes to permitted development rights and the 
Use Classes Order. 

3.5 The Bracknell Forest Local Plan will not contain minerals and waste policies 
as Hampshire Services (part of Hampshire County Council) has been appointed to 
undertake a joint plan – see below. 

3.6 The Council has an Infrastructure Delivery Plan (IDP) which is being updated and 
reviewed as part of this process. In addition, other supporting evidence has been/is being 
produced, such as a viability assessment. 

Resources 

3.7 The broad resource and management arrangements for the BFLP and Policies Map 
are set out in the timetable on the following pages. Resources will be primarily drawn from 
the Planning Section of the Place, Planning and Regeneration Directorate, although input 
from other service areas and external resources may be used. Consultants are being engaged 
on specific projects where there is a lack of capacity in-house, or additional expertise is 
required. This particularly relates to technical baseline surveys, viability testing and other 
specialist areas where it is not economic to have an in-house resource. 

Joint Minerals and Waste Local Plan 

3.8 A joint Minerals and Waste Plan is being produced in partnership with three other 
Berkshire Authorities (Royal Borough of Windsor & Maidenhead, Reading Borough Council 
and Wokingham Borough Council). Hampshire Services have been appointed to undertake 
the work. 

3.9 The JMWP: 

covers the period 2020 - 2036; 

sets out a vision and strategy for mineral provision and waste management; 

gives confidence and certainty to commercial operators and the local community 
over the plan period; 

takes into account the requirements of the NPPF, PPG, Waste Management Plan 
for England and National Planning Policy for Waste; 

includes development management policies for evaluating minerals and waste 
planning applications; 

includes any site allocations to meet identified needs over the plan period; 

is informed by a robust and up to date evidence base e.g. Local Aggregates 
Assessment, data on municipal waste arisings, transfer, treatment and disposal. 

www.bracknell-forest.gov.uk/planningpolicy 7 19

www.bracknell-forest.gov.uk/planningpolicy


Resources 

3.10 The broad resource and management arrangements for the JMWP and Policies Map 
are set out in the timetable on the following pages. Hampshire Services is contributing 
planning, specialist and managerial staff resources sufficient to prepare a sound plan.Whilst 
staff resources are primarily from Hampshire Services, there also a need for input from 
the Planning Section of the Place, Planning and Regeneration Directorate and other 
service areas at Bracknell Forest Council such as Legal and Waste Management. 

www.bracknell-forest.gov.uk/planningpolicy 8 20

www.bracknell-forest.gov.uk/planningpolicy


Profile of Bracknell Forest Local Plan 

Bracknell Forest Local Plan Document title 

Lead Section Development Plan Team, Planning Division, Place, Planning 
and Regeneration Directorate. 

Borough Wide Scope 

High Priority 

Synopsis Sets the Council's spatial vision, spatial objectives, and 
strategy for the distribution of development up to 2037; 

reflects the most up-to-date national policies and 
guidance; 

reviews and updates the existing Core Strategy policies, 
for example those dealing with housing and economic 
development; 

reviews and updates 'saved' Bracknell Forest Borough 
Local Plan policies; 

fills gaps in local policy, for example, those left by the 
partial revocation of the South East Plan e.g. green 
infrastructure; 

establishes and enables the delivery of development 
needs for the Borough, including a housing target for 
the plan period, based on a local housing need 
assessment conducted using the standard method in 
national planning guidance; 

promotes sustainable economic growth, including 
planning for future employment, retail and business 
needs; 

reviews elements of the existing SALP and allocates 
further strategic sites to meet development needs; 

reviews the Green Belt boundary, to allow the provision 
of a new garden community, and provides a site 
allocation policy for the development of this community; 

reviews the existing settlement boundaries; 

includes a suite of development management policies 
on issues such as design, heritage, affordable housing 
and green infrastructure; 

www.bracknell-forest.gov.uk/planningpolicy 9 21

www.bracknell-forest.gov.uk/planningpolicy


Bracknell Forest Local Plan Document title 

Chain of conformity 

Current Document (date of 
adoption) 

Timetable 

sets pitch and plot targets for Gypsies and Travellers 
and Travelling Showpeople; and 

identifies any necessary sites for Gypsies and Travellers 
and Travelling Showpeople 

General conformity with national planning policy ( National 
Planning Policy Framework) 

'Saved' policies of the Bracknell Forest Borough Local Plan 
(2002 and saved in 2007) 

Core Strategy (February 2008) 

Site Allocations Local Plan (July 2013) 

The South East Plan, Policy NRM6 only (May 2009) 

Timescale 

June 2015 

(June 2015 - June 2016) 

Key Milestone 

COMMENCEMENT OF 
REVIEW (Notification of 
bodies/persons of intention 
to prepare a Plan(1), SA
scoping, evidence 
gathering and preparation 
of consultation documents) 

June/July 2016 Issues and Options 
consultation 

July 2016 - February 2018 Further evidence and 
analysis 

February/March 2018 Draft Plan consultation 
(preferred option) 

September 2018 Further consultation on 
new sites 

September - October 2019 Further consultation on 
additional growth options 

March - May 2021 Publication 

Autumn 2021 SUBMISSION 

www.bracknell-forest.gov.uk/planningpolicy 10 22

www.bracknell-forest.gov.uk/planningpolicy


Bracknell Forest Local Plan Document title 

Wide stakeholder and community involvement using a range 
of consultation methods described in the Statement of 
Community Involvement (SCI) (as amended by the Statement 

Approach to involving 
stakeholders and 
community 

Pre-Examination 
Meeting/Examination 
Hearing/Inspector's Report
(2) 

Management 
Arrangements 

Resources 

Winter/Spring/Summer 2021/22 

Summer/Autumn 2022 Report to Council/Adoption 

Assistant Director: Planning - Executive Director, Place, 
Planning & Regeneration - Executive Member for Planning 
& Transport - Portfolio Review Group - Executive - Council

Internal: 

Staff in the Development Plan Team; 

Internal administrative and technical support; 

Other Borough Council Officers' and Members' time; 

Local Plan budget to cover consultation, printing and 
design costs, and examination costs. 

External: 

Consultants and major landowners for some aspects of 
preparation; 

Local Strategic Partnership to provide link with the 
community; 

Representatives from stakeholder groups to attend 
meetings and contribute to preparation etc; 

Development industry expertise; 

Specific Local Plan budget for use of consultants / 
legal advice for specific aspects of preparation; 

Duty to Co-operate bodies; 

Other external agencies/consultees; 

Amenity/Community groups. 

www.bracknell-forest.gov.uk/planningpolicy 11 23

www.bracknell-forest.gov.uk/planningpolicy


Bracknell Forest Local Plan Document title 

of Community Involvement temporary changes addendum), 
which also meets the requirements set out in relevant 
Regulations. 

1. (Reg 18 Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012)
2. The Planning Inspectorate usually decides whether a Pre-Hearing meeting is needed. This could affect timing of

subsequent stages.  Assumes no further consultation on main modifications necessary following examination hearings.

www.bracknell-forest.gov.uk/planningpolicy 12 24

www.bracknell-forest.gov.uk/planningpolicy


Profile of Joint Minerals and Waste Local Plan 

Document title 

Lead Section 

Scope 

Priority 

Synopsis 

Chain of conformity 

Current Document (date of adoption) 

Joint Minerals and Waste Local Plan 

Development Plan Team, Planning Division, 
Place, Planning and Regeneration 
Directorate,  in conjunction with Hampshire 
Services as contractor 

Bracknell Forest, Wokingham Borough, 
Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead, 
Reading Borough 

High 

Set out policies on minerals and waste 
across the four authorities. 

General conformity with national planning 
policy (the National Planning Policy 
Framework, Waste Management Plan for 
England and National Planning Policy for 
Waste) 

Replacement Minerals Local Plan for 
Berkshire (including Alterations), 2001 
(RMLP), Waste Local Plan for Berkshire, 
1998 (WLPB) 

Timetable 

Key Milestone 

COMMENCEMENT OF REVIEW 
(Notification of bodies/persons of intention 
to prepare a Plan(1), SA scoping, evidence
gathering and preparation of consultation 
documents) 

Timescale 

September 2016  - March 2017 

March - September 2017 Issues and Options consultation 

July 2017 – May 2018 Further evidence and analysis 

June - November 2018 Preferred Options consultation 

July – August 2019 Bray Quarry extension consultation 

February – March 2020 Focused consultation on Sand and Gravel 
Provision and Operator Performance 

September – October 2020 PUBLICATION (6 weeks) 

Winter 2020/2021 Consideration of representations 

www.bracknell-forest.gov.uk/planningpolicy 13 25

www.bracknell-forest.gov.uk/planningpolicy


Joint Minerals and Waste Local Plan Document title 

February 2021 SUBMISSION 

Spring 2021 – Spring 2022 Examination/ Hearings/Inspector’s 
Report  

Early Summer 2022 Report to Council/Adoption 

Assistant Director: Planning - Director, 
Place, Planning & Regeneration - 
Executive Member for Planning & 
Transport - Portfolio Review Group - 
Executive - Council 

Management Arrangements 

Internal: Resources 

Staff in the Development Plan Team; 

Internal administrative and technical 
support; 

Other Borough Council Officers' and 
Members' time; 

Local Plan budget to cover 
consultation, printing and design costs, 
and examination costs. 

External: 

Hampshire Services; 

Representatives from stakeholder 
groups to attend meetings and 
contribute to preparation etc; 

Commercial Operators' expertise; 

Duty to Co-operate bodies; 

Other external agencies/consultees; 

Specific Local Plan budget. 

Wide stakeholder and community 
involvement using a range of consultation 
methods described in the Statement of 

Approach to involving stakeholders and 
community 

Community Involvement (as amended by 
the Statement of Community Involvement 

www.bracknell-forest.gov.uk/planningpolicy 14 26

www.bracknell-forest.gov.uk/planningpolicy


Joint Minerals and Waste Local Plan Document title 

temporary changes addendum), which also 
meets the requirements set out in relevant 
Regulations. 

1. (Reg 18 Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012)

Profile of Policies Map 

Policies Map Document title 

Lead Section Development Plan Team, Planning Division, Place, Planning and 
Regeneration Directorate 

Borough Wide Scope 

High Priority 

Synopsis The adopted Policies Map spatially illustrates the policies of the 
Local Plans on an Ordnance Survey base (currently the Core 
Strategy, Site Allocations Local Plan policies, 'saved' policies in 
the Bracknell Forest Borough Local Plan, Replacement Minerals 
Local Plan for Berkshire (RMLP), Waste Local Plan for Berkshire 
(WLPB) and Binfield Neighbourhood Plan). It will be updated to 
incorporate any changes from specific area-based policies 
resulting from the adoption of the Bracknell Forest Local Plan 
and the Joint Minerals and Waste Local Plan. 

Conformity with the adopted Local Plans. Chain of conformity 

Current Policies Map Bracknell Forest Borough Policies Map (July 2013). 
(date of adoption) 

Policies Map associated with Replacement Minerals Local Plan 
for Berkshire (RMLP), Waste Local Plan for Berkshire (WLPB). 

Policies Map associated with the Binfield Neighbourhood Plan 
(2016) 

Timetable 

Timescale Key Milestone 

To be progressed alongside the timetables for the Bracknell 
Forest Local Plan and the Joint Minerals and Waste Local Plan. 

Management Head of Planning - Director, Place, Planning & Regeneration -
Arrangements Executive Member for Planning & Transport - Portfolio Review 

Group - Executive - Council 

www.bracknell-forest.gov.uk/planningpolicy 15 27

www.bracknell-forest.gov.uk/planningpolicy


Policies Map Document title 

Resources Internal: 

Staff from the Development Plan Team; 

Internal administration and GIS technical support; 

Other Borough Council Officers' and Members' time; 

Local Plan budget to cover printing and design costs. 

External: 

Local Plan budget to fund use of consultants. 

As for Bracknell Forest Local Plan and the Joint Minerals and 
Waste Local Plan. 

Approach to involving 
stakeholders and 
community 

www.bracknell-forest.gov.uk/planningpolicy 16 28

www.bracknell-forest.gov.uk/planningpolicy


4 Risk assessment 
4.1 As the Council is required to set out firm timetables for the delivery of Local Plans it 
is important to identify the risks that could affect the work programme set out in this LDS, 
and consider how the risks may be minimised and mitigated. The position is summarised in 
the table below: 

Risk Factors affecting the LDS 

Mitigation Impact Level of 
Risk 

Risk 

Staff are working in accordance with 
national public health guidance aimed 
at reducing infection rates. 

The Coronavirus pandemic could affect 
the health of staff and others which 
could and result in delays in document 
preparation or progress of 
examinations. 

High Covid-19 
pandemic 

Potential High 
change in 
national 
and local 
political 
control/ 
leadership 

National changes could result in new 
legislation, policy and guidance which 
will need to be taken account of as and 
when published, which could be 
during document preparation and 
changes to the Use Class Order 
through the Town and Country 
Planning (Use Classes) 
(Amendment) (England) Regulations 
2020 which introduce significant 
changes to the system of 'use 
classes'). 

There may also be changes in the 
political composition and outlook of 
one or more of the Berkshire 
authorities. This could particularly 
effect decisions required in respect of 
the Minerals and Waste Local Plan. 

If such changes arise they could 
affect the ability to meet agreed 
timescales. 

Staffing Medium/ Government spending cuts continue to 
and High affect resources across the Council. 
Resources Over the past few years, there has 

been a reduction in staff available to 
carry out local planning work within 
Planning Policy. 

In addition, to work on drafting 
policies/guidance and the 
implementation of projects, other 
planning matters (for example 
neighbourhood planning, Duty to 

Changes in national legislation, policy 
and guidance will be monitored and 
assessed for their impact on the content 
of emerging documents. Any Local Plan 
will need to be based upon the 
information available at the time. Advice 
will be sought from the Ministry of 
Housing, Communities and Local 
Government (MHCLG) and the 
Planning Inspectorate, as appropriate. 

Locally, officers will work closely with 
Members through working groups and 
committees. In recognition of the fact 
that four local authorities are involved 
in the JMWP, a joint board has been 
set up to act as an advisory 
body/sounding board for decisions. 
Decisions regarding key milestones 
during the plan making process are 
being dealt with in accordance with the 
internal governance arrangements for 
each Authority. 

The annual budget review will be used 
to identify budget needs. 

Consultants will be commissioned to 
undertake specialist areas of work and 
extend the capacity of the Local Plan 
Team. 

As minerals and waste planning 
requires specialist staff, the preparation 
of the Joint Minerals and Waste Plan 
(JMWP) is being dealt with by 
commissioning a specialist service 

www.bracknell-forest.gov.uk/planningpolicy 17 29

www.bracknell-forest.gov.uk/planningpolicy


Mitigation Impact Level of 
Risk 

Risk 

Resources High 
of External 
Agencies, 
including 
Planning 
Inspectorate 

Legal Medium 
Compliance / 
Soundness 
/Legal 
Challenge 

Habitats Medium 
sites 

Co-operate, monitoring) now require 
the dedication of additional resources 
on an ongoing basis. 

Further reduction in resources available 
to progress the local plans could affect 
the quality of work and the ability to 
meet agreed timescales. 

Preparation of a Local Plan requires 
considerable input from other 
organisations, including the Planning 
Inspectorate (due to the examination 
process) and Duty to Co-operate 
bodies. Many are involved in the 
preparation of other Local Plans. The 
Council relies upon collaborative 
working with certain partners to address 
cross-boundary issues and 
infrastructure. If these organisations do 
not have sufficient resources, the ability 
to meet the agreed timescales may be 
affected. 

If either of the Local Plans fail the tests 
of soundness at examination this could 
significantly delay their progression. 
In addition, a legal challenge of either 
of the Local Plans could result in all or 
part of the Plan being quashed and the 
requirement to repeat work, significantly 
delaying progression. 

In accordance with the Conservation of 
Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 
(as amended) the Bracknell Forest 

(Hampshire Services) to deliver the 
plan. Hampshire Services have a 
history of preparing successful minerals 
and waste plans. Close contact is being 
maintained with Hampshire Services 
and the contract is being carefully 
managed. 

Close contact will be maintained with 
Town/Parish Councils regarding 
timetables for progressing 
Neighbourhood Plans. 

In order to minimise risk, the Council is 
seeking to talk to such organisations 
as early as possible when an issue 
arises. In most cases, the Council 
already has existing working 
relationships that can be built upon.The 
Council has an Infrastructure Delivery 
Plan which demonstrates partnership 
working - this is being updated. The 
Council is also keeping in close contact 
with the Planning Inspectorate and 
making it aware of any alterations to 
programmes. 

The Council (in conjunction with 
Hampshire Services) will: 

seek to ensure that the Local 
Plans are legally compliant, 
"sound", based upon a robust 
evidence base, and have well 
audited consultation processes 
in order to minimise the risk of 
legal challenge. 
work closely with the Planning 
Inspectorate at all stages to 
ensure the tests of soundness 
are met. 
take account of other advice 
available such as from the 
Planning Advisory Service and 
tools such as 'self assessment 
toolkits' in respect of the Local 
Plan process. 
take legal advice on the plan 
process as appropriate. 

The timetable recognises that the Plan 
cannot be submitted until this work is 
completed. 

www.bracknell-forest.gov.uk/planningpolicy 18 30

www.bracknell-forest.gov.uk/planningpolicy


Mitigation Impact Level of 
Risk 

Risk 

Local Plan requires a Habitats 
Regulations Assessment (HRA) to 
ensure it will not adversely affect the 
integrity of habitats sites. If this is not 
demonstrated the Plan is likely to be 
found unsound. 

It is recognised that in project planning 
for controversial documents (particularly 
any involving the allocation of sites), 

High levels of interest in consultations 
and a large volume of responses could 
result in pressure on staff and other 

Medium High levels 
of public 
interest in 

additional time is needed for early 
engagement and consultation and 
subsequent analysis of responses. 

resources due to the need to support 
the process and consider 
representations. This could lead to 

consultations 
and large 
volumes of 

delays and affect the ability to meet the 
agreed timescales. 

responses 
to 
consultations 

The Council will monitor the situation 
and update information where possible. 

Due to fluctuations in the economy, 
there is a risk that studies can become 

Medium Dating of 
evidence 
base outdated before reaching the 

examination stage. This would mean 
new evidence is required, leading to 
delays and affecting the ability to meet 
the agreed timescales. 

The Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004 (as amended) and 
Local Planning Regulations (which 

Medium Joint 
Working 

prescribe the relevant bodies) impose 
the Duty to Co-operate and the need 
to work collaboratively on strategic 
issues in relation to the planning of 
sustainable development. The Council 
is required to engage constructively, 
actively and on an ongoing basis. If the 
Council is found to have not met the 
requirements of the Duty to Co-operate 
at examination the Plan would be found 
to be unsound. 

Joint working is taking place on the 
preparation of evidence studies relating 
to strategic issues that cross Borough 
boundaries, as appropriate. Studies 
most appropriately addressed through 
joint work are being identified at an 
early stage, bearing in mind local plan 
timetables. Consideration is being given 
to the governance of joint work and 
decision making at various milestones, 
prior to the commencement of work. 
Duty to Co-operate meetings are also 
being held at key points in the 
progression of the Local Plans. 

Whilst the Joint Minerals and Waste 
Plan does not cover Slough Borough 
or West Berkshire, contact is being 
maintained with these Authorities in the 
interests of planning for minerals and 
waste strategically and addressing any 
cross-border issues. Statements of 
Common Ground have been developed 
with various parties.. 

www.bracknell-forest.gov.uk/planningpolicy 19 31

www.bracknell-forest.gov.uk/planningpolicy


5 Monitoring and review 
5.1 The Council compiles Authority Monitoring Reports (AMRs), which include a report 
on progress on the LDS. The timetables for the Bracknell Forest Local Plan (BFLP) and 
Joint Minerals and Waste Local Plan (JMWP) set out in the LDS are reviewed in this 
document. In particular, the following matters are looked at: 

progress against specific milestones; 
reasons for any mismatch and proposed actions; 
any new technical information that warrants changes or reviews; 
any new legislation or guidance or reviews of other strategies that may have an impact; 
and 
any other unforeseen circumstances that may arise. 

5.2 The AMR also monitors: 

policies in adopted documents to identify whether or not they are being implemented 
and identify actions to ensure implementation or replacement (if appropriate); 
whether targets and indicators within the Local Plans are being met (and identifies 
actions to overcome any areas where these are not being achieved); 
specifically on housing, the number of dwellings built during the monitoring period and 
forecast completions on remaining sites. This enables the housing trajectory to be 
updated and progress against the housing requirement to be assessed. 

5.3 The AMR includes data published in the Council's annual report on 'Planning 
Commitments for Housing' and 'Planning Commitments for Employment Uses'. 

5.4 The AMR and Commitments can be viewed at: 

https://www.bracknell-forest.gov.uk/planning-policy-monitoring 

Further Information 

5.5 For further information about this document or on the preparation of Local Plans, 
please contact a member of the Local Plan team at: 

Planning Department 
Place, Planning and Regeneration 
Bracknell Forest Council 
Time Square 
Market Street 
Bracknell 
RG12 1JD 
mail to: development.plan@bracknell-forest.gov.uk 
Telephone: 01344 352000 
Alternatively visit: 
http://www.bracknell-forest.gov.ukhttps://www.bracknell-forest.gov.uk/planning-policy-monitoring 

www.bracknell-forest.gov.uk/planningpolicy 20 32

https://www.bracknell-forest.gov.uk/planning-policy-monitoring
mailto:development.plan@bracknell-forest.gov.uk
http://www.bracknell-forest.gov.uk/ldf
https://www.bracknell-forest.gov.uk/planning-policy-monitoring
www.bracknell-forest.gov.uk/planningpolicy


6 Glossary of terms 

Definition Term 

Authority 
Monitoring Report 
(AMR) 

Basic Conditions 
(of Neighbourhood 
Plan) 

Community Right 
to Build Order 
(CRTBO) 

Development Plan 

The Authority Monitoring Report (AMR) monitors progress in preparing 
documents in the Local Development Scheme and assesses the extent 
to which planning policies are being implemented successfully. 

The AMR also updates monitoring information in key subject areas, 
including housing, economic development and retail, and examines 
the implications of the information for the Development Plan. 

Basic Conditions for Neighbourhood Plans are specified by law. They 
must: 

be appropriate having regard to national policy and guidance 
contribute to the achievement of sustainable development 
be in general conformity with the strategic policies in the 
development plan for the local area 
be compatible with EU obligations 
meet the prescribed conditions (to not have a significant effect 
on a European site or a European offshore marine site). 

A Community Right to Build Order (CRTBO) is a type of 
Neighbourhood Development Order (NDO), and can be used to grant 
planning permission for small scale development schemes (e.g. 
housing) for community benefit. Local community organisations that 
meet certain requirements or parish/town councils are able to prepare 
CRTBOs 

Planning law (section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase 
Act 2004 and section 70(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 
1990) requires that decisions on planning applications should be made 
in accordance with the development plan unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise. 

The Development Plan for the Borough includes Policy NRM6 of the 
South East Plan, the Core Strategy, the Site Allocations Local Plan, 
saved policies in the Bracknell Forest Borough Local Plan, saved 
policies in the Minerals Local Plan, saved policies in the Waste Local 
Plan and the Binfield Neighbourhood Plan. It is important that all 
documents comprising the Development Plan are read together. 

Any site which would be included within the definition at Regulation 8 
of the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (as 
amended), including candidate Special Areas of Conservation, Sites 

Habitats sites 

of Community Importance, Special Areas of Conservation, Special 

www.bracknell-forest.gov.uk/planningpolicy 21 33

www.bracknell-forest.gov.uk/planningpolicy


Definition Term 

Protection Areas and any relevant Marine Sites. Also any site which 
is designated under Regulations 12 and 13 after 1 January 2021 to 
extend the National Site Network. 

Infrastructure 
Delivery Plan (IDP) 

Localism Act 2011 

Local Plan 

National Planning 
Policy Framework 

A document that identifies, as far as is possible, the infrastructure 
needs (e.g. provision for new open space, road/junction improvements, 
schools and other community uses) associated with the development 
of sites. It is compiled following engagement with infrastructure 
providers and partner organisations. The current IDP for Bracknell 
Forest relates specifically to strategic sites allocated through the Site 
Allocations Local Plan (SALP). 

The Act received Royal Assent in November 2011 and covers a wide 
range of measures that have an impact on local government. The 
principle of localism is that power and resources should be transferred 
from central government to the local level. It is based on the principle 
that decisions should be taken as closely as possible to the people 
they affect. 

Local Plans have statutory development plan status and are subject 
to rigorous procedures involving community involvement and formal 
testing through examination by an independent Planning Inspector to 
assess whether a plan has been prepared in accordance with the Duty 
to Co-operate, legal and procedural requirements and whether it is 
sound. 

The revised National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (July 
2021) superseded previous versions and is a single document that 
sets out the Government’s planning policies for England and how 
these should be applied. Paragraph 8 sets out three overarching 
objectives (economic, social and environmental) which are 
interdependent and need to be pursued in mutually supportive ways. 
Sustainable development is to be delivered through the preparation 
and implementation of plans and the application of policies that are 
based on these objectives 

Designating a Neighbourhood Area is the first stage of preparing a 
Neighbourhood Development Plan or Order. It defines the geographical 
area that the plan or order will affect. The application is submitted by 

Neighbourhood 
Area 

the relevant body (parish/town council) to the local planning authority. 
Neighbourhood Areas must be coherent, consistent and appropriate 
in planning terms. 

A plan that establishes planning policies for the development and use 
of land in a neighbourhood. It may contain a vision, aims, planning 
policies, proposals for improving the area or providing new facilities, 
and, identify key sites for specific kinds of development. 

Neighbourhood 
Development Plan 

A Neighbourhood Development Order (NDO) is a means for 
parish/town councils to grant planning permission for certain kinds of 

Neighbourhood 
Development 

www.bracknell-forest.gov.uk/planningpolicy 22 34

www.bracknell-forest.gov.uk/planningpolicy


Definition Term 

A group of heathland sites distributed across Berkshire, Surrey and 
Hampshire that support important breeding populations of lowland 

Thames Basin 
Heaths Special 

heathland birds (especially the Nightjar, Dartford Warbler and Protection Area 
(TBHSPA) Woodlark). The area is designated for its interest under a European 

Wildlife Directive (and subject to the assessment procedure set out 
in the Habitats Directive) in order to protect the important species of 
birds that live within them. 

Order 
(Neighbourhood 
Plan) 

Planning Practice 
Guidance 

Soundness Tests 

Statement of 
Community 
Involvement (SCI) 

Sustainability 
Appraisal (SA) 

development within a specified area. These orders may apply to the 
whole or just part of a Neighbourhood Area. 

Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) was launched in March 2014 and 
is updated as necessary by the Government. It is an online resource 
setting out further detail on the Government's national planning policies 
set out in the NPPF. 

The South East Plan (SEP) was partially revoked in March 2013. 
Policy NRM6, which relates to new residential development near the 

South East Plan 

Thames Basin Heaths Special Protection Area, an area designated 
under European Directives 79/409/EEC (now codified in 2009/147/EC) 
and 92/43/EEC, is retained. 

A Local Plan must be 'sound'. The tests of soundness are set out in 
paragraph 35 of the NPPF. To be 'sound' a plan must be: 

Positively prepared 
Justified 
Effective 
Consistent with national policy. 

A document which sets out how a Council will engage with 
communities in reviewing and preparing planning policy documents 
and consulting on planning applications. 

A type of planning document that provides support, and additional 
detail on the implementation of policies contained in Local Plans. An 

Supplementary 
Planning 
Document (SPD) SPD is a material consideration, but carries less weight than a Local 

Plan. 

Examines the impact of proposed plans and policies on economic, 
social and environmental factors, and ensures that these issues are 
taken into account at every stage so that sustainable development is 
delivered on the ground. It also appraises the different options that 
are put forward in the development of policies and the process of 
allocating sites. Each Local Plan that the Council produces is 
accompanied by its own SA. Although not a requirement for an SPD, 
the Council has, to date, prepared SAs for many of the SPDs in order 
to ensure that social, environmental and economic factors are 
considered. 

www.bracknell-forest.gov.uk/planningpolicy 23 35

www.bracknell-forest.gov.uk/planningpolicy


Definition Term 

Use Classes Order The Town and Country Planning (Use Classes) Order 1987 (as 
amended) puts uses of land and buildings into various categories 
known as 'Use Classes' (such as Dwellinghouses (C3); Commercial, 
business and service (E); Learning and non-residential institutions 
(F.1) etc.). A 'Change of use' can occur within the same use class or 
from one use class to another as allowed by the General Permitted 
Development) Order 2015 (as amended). 

www.bracknell-forest.gov.uk/planningpolicy 24 36

www.bracknell-forest.gov.uk/planningpolicy


37



Copies of this booklet may be obtained in large print, Braille, on 

audio cassette or in other languages. To obtain a copy in an 

alternative format please telephone 01344 352000 

Bracknell Forest Council 

Time Square 

Market Street 

Bracknell 

RG12 1JD 

© Design and Print Services 

38



Unrestricted 

1 

 

To: THE EXECUTIVE 
 19 October 2021 
  

BRACKNELL NEIGHBOURHOOD DEVELOPMENT PLAN 2016-2036 
“MAKING” THE PLAN  

SECTION 38A(4) OF THE PLANNING AND COMPULSORY PURCHASE ACT 
2004 (AS AMENDED) 

 
Executive Director: Place, Planning and Regeneration 

 

1 Executive Summary 

1.1 The Bracknell Town Neighbourhood Development Plan (“the Neighbourhood Plan”) 
came into legal force as part of the statutory Bracknell Forest Development Plan (“the 
Development Plan”) when the results of the community referendum on the 
Neighbourhood Plan were published, where the majority of those who voted were in 
favour of Bracknell Forest Council (“the Council”) using the Neighbourhood Plan to 
help decide planning applications in the Bracknell Town Neighbourhood Area. As the 
Council is satisfied that formally ‘making’ the Neighbourhood Plan (keeping it in legal 
force) would not breach, or otherwise be incompatible with, any EU or human rights 
obligations and there has been no legal challenge related to the referendum, the 
Council is required to formally make the Neighbourhood Plan as soon as reasonably 
practicable after the referendum is held and, in any event, within 8 weeks of the 
referendum.  

 

2 Purpose of Report 

2.1 The purpose of this report is to seek agreement from the Executive to formally make 
the Neighbourhood Plan, keeping it in legal force as part of the Development Plan, to 
be used in the determination of planning applications relating to land in Bracknell 
Town. The decision also seeks the Executive’s approval for the form, content and 
publication of the associated Decision Statement  

 
3 Recommendations 

3.1 That the Executive approves: 

(1) the formal “making” (keeping in legal force) of the Bracknell Town 
Neighbourhood Development Plan to continue to form part of the statutory 
Bracknell Forest Development Plan pursuant to Section 38A(4) of the Planning 
and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (as amended); and 

(2) the form, content and publication of the Decision Statement (set out in 
Appendix B) pursuant to Regulation 19 of the Neighbourhood Planning 
(General) Regulations 2012 (as amended). 

4 Reasons for Recommendations 

4.1 The Council in its capacity as the Local Planning Authority has a statutory duty, as 
set out in Section 38A(4) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (as 
amended) (“PCPA”), to make a neighbourhood development plan if more than half of 
those voting at referendum have voted in favour of making the neighbourhood 
development plan. This must be done as soon as reasonably practicable after the 
referendum is held and, in any event, within 8 weeks of the referendum (as 
prescribed by Regulation 18A of the Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations 
2012 (as amended) (“the Regulations”)). Regulation 19 requires the Council to then 

39

Agenda Item 6



Unrestricted 

2 

 

publish a statement setting out the decision and details of where and when the 
decision statement may be inspected. This must be done as soon as possible after 
deciding to make the neighbourhood development plan. 

5 Alternative options considered 

5.1 If the Council considers that the making of the Neighbourhood Plan would breach, or 
otherwise be incompatible with any EU obligation or any of the Convention rights 
(within the meaning of the Human Rights Act 1998 (as amended)), it would not have 
a duty to make the Neighbourhood Plan, as set out in Section 38A(6) of the PCPA, in 
which case the Neighbourhood Plan would cease to form part of the Development 
Plan, as set out in Section 38(3B) of the PCPA.  

5.2 The independent Examiner who reviewed the Neighbourhood Plan considered that it 
met the basic conditions and statutory requirements (incorporating modifications), 
including the basic condition that the Neighbourhood Plan is compatible with EU 
obligations and Convention rights (within the meaning of the Human Rights Act 1998 
(as amended)). The Council concurred with the Examiner’s conclusions as set out in 
the published ‘Post Examination Decision Statement.’ Therefore, it would be in 
breach of the Council’s statutory responsibilities in respect of Neighbourhood 
Planning under Section 38A(4) of the PCPA to refuse to make the Neighbourhood 
Plan. It would also expose the Council to legal challenge and attendant costs. 

6 Supporting information 

 Process 
 
6.1 Bracknell Town Council is the Qualifying Body for the purposes of Neighbourhood 

Planning in the Bracknell Town administrative area. The Council designated 
Bracknell Town as a Neighbourhood Area for the purposes of Neighbourhood 
Planning on 11 February 2014. Bracknell Town Council submitted its Neighbourhood 
Plan and supporting documentation to the Council on 28 November 2018.  

 
6.2 The Executive Director of Place, Planning and Regeneration confirmed in writing to 

Bracknell Town Council on 6 December 2018 that the submitted documentation 
complied with the statutory requirements as set out in the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990 (as amended) (“the TCPA”) and Regulation 15 of the Regulations. 
The Leader/Executive Member for Council Strategy & Community Cohesion agreed 
to the Council undertaking a statutory six-week publicity period on the submitted 
Neighbourhood Plan in accordance with Regulation 16 and the appointment of an 
independent examiner in accordance with Regulation 17 (decision on 18 December 
2018). Public consultation was held between 7 January 2019 and 18 February 2019. 
The Council also submitted a representation during this consultation period which 
was agreed by the Executive Member for Council Strategy & Community Cohesion 
on 7 February 2019 

 
6.3 With the consent of Bracknell Town Council, the Council appointed Mr John Slater to 

undertake the independent examination of the Neighbourhood Plan. The Council 
submitted the Neighbourhood Plan along with the representations received during 
the consultation period and other supporting documentation for examination (under 
Regulation 17) following the close of the Regulation 16 consultation. 

 
6.4 Following an initial assessment of the plan and accompanying documents, the 

examiner decided to hold a public hearing on Tuesday 14 May 2019 at Bracknell 
Town Council’s offices. 

40



Unrestricted 

3 

 

6.5 Following that hearing, the examiner issued ‘Interim Conclusions’ and gave the Town 
Council 3 options for taking the Plan forward. The Town Council decided to follow 
option of reconfiguring the submitted documents.  1. In response to the Examiner’s 
‘Interim Conclusions’ (June 2019), Bracknell Town Council submitted an amended 
Plan, and Schedule of Changes. The Examiner then issued ‘Further Comments’ 
(November 2019). 

6.6 A focused consultation (for those who commented at the Regulation 16 stage, was 
held between Monday 18 November and Monday 16 December 2019.  Following the 
focused consultation, the Examiner issued ‘Mapping and Document Issues’ 
(February 2020), which  required the Town Council to address some specific 
requirements before the Examiner  could issue their final report: 

6.7 The Examiner issued his report to the Council on the Examination of the 
Neighbourhood Plan on 23 April 2020 and the Council subsequently published the 
report on its website in accordance with paragraph 10(8) of Schedule 4B of the 
TCPA.  

 
6.8 The Examiner’s Report recommended that, subject to modifications put forward by 

the Examiner, the Neighbourhood Plan be submitted to referendum. It also 
recommended that the Neighbourhood Plan should proceed to a referendum based 
on the designated Bracknell Town Parish Neighbourhood Area. (A copy of the 
Examiner’s report has been published on the Council’s webpage).  The Council 
considered each of the recommendations made in the Examiner’s Report (and the 
reasons for them) and decided what action to take in response to each 
recommendation (in accordance with paragraph 12(2) of Schedule 4B of the TCPA 
and Regulation 18 of the Regulations).   

 
6.9 These Council considerations and decisions were set out in a Post Examination 

Decision Statement. The Leader/Executive Member for Council Strategy & 
Community Cohesion approved the form and content of the Post Examination 
Decision Statement, its subsequent publication and to the submission of the modified 
Bracknell Town Neighbourhood Plan to a local community referendum in his decision 
of 9 July 2021. The Post Examination Decision Statement was published on the 
Council’s website on 19 July 2021.  

 
 Referendum arrangements 
6.10 As required by paragraph 14(2) of Schedule 4B of the TCPA and regulation 13(1) of 

The Local Government and Police and Crime Commissioner (Coronavirus) 
(Postponement of Elections and Referendums) Regulations 2020, the Council duly 
made arrangements to hold a referendum on the making of the Neighbourhood Plan 
on Thursday 9 September 2021.  

 
6.11 In accordance with paragraph 12(5) of Schedule 4B of the TCPA, the referendum 

was held on the Neighbourhood Plan which incorporated the agreed modifications 
set out in the schedule of the Post Examination Decision Statement.  

 
6.12 A person was entitled to vote in the referendum if on the prescribed date of the 

referendum a) the person was entitled to vote in an election of any councillors of a 
relevant council any of whose area was in the referendum area, and b) the person’s 
qualifying address for the election was in the referendum area.  

 

41



Unrestricted 

4 

 

6.13 The referendum area was the designated Bracknell Town Neighbourhood Area. A 
separate business referendum was not held since the Bracknell Town 
Neighbourhood Area was not designated as a business area. 

 
 Referendum results and the Neighbourhood Plan coming into legal force 
6.14 The referendum was held on Thursday 9 September 2021 between 7am and 10pm. 

The following question was asked to those entitled to vote in the referendum: “Do you 
want Bracknell Forest Council to use the Neighbourhood Plan for Bracknell Town to 
help it decide planning applications in the neighbourhood area?”  

 
6.15 At the referendum a total of 4,085 votes were cast. Of these: 

 the number of votes in favour of a ‘yes’ was 3,457 

 the number of votes in favour of a ‘no’ was 582 

 28 votes were rejected, deemed unmarked or void for uncertainty 

 the turnout was 9.6 per cent. 
The official result sheet is set out in Appendix A. 

 
6.16 More than half of those in the community of Bracknell Town who voted were in favour 

of the Council making the Neighbourhood Plan. As set out in Section 38(3A) of the 
PCPA, this meant that the Neighbourhood Plan came into legal force as part of the 
Development Plan with immediate effect., It is therefore  used in the determination of 
planning applications in the Bracknell Town Neighbourhood Area. 

 
7 Bracknell Forest Council’s statutory duties following a successful referendum  
 
 Context 
7.1 When 50% + one of those who vote at a neighbourhood plan referendum are in 

favour of a neighbourhood development plan being made, it comes into legal force 
with immediate effect. In this situation, the Council in its role as the Local Planning 
Authority is under a legal duty to ‘make’ the neighbourhood development plan 
(keeping it in legal force), apart from when narrow circumstances apply as outlined in 
paragraph 5.1 of this report.  If made, the neighbourhood development plan 
continues to form part of the Development Plan and to be used in the determination 
of planning applications in the relevant designated neighbourhood area. 

 
 Making of the Neighbourhood Plan 
7.2 As set out in paragraph 6.16 of this report and Appendix A, more than half of those 

that voted at the referendum were in favour of making the Neighbourhood Plan. The 
Neighbourhood Plan therefore came into legal force with immediate effect. As 
outlined in part 5 of this report, the Council is satisfied that ‘making’ the 
Neighbourhood Plan (keeping it in legal force) would not breach, or otherwise be 
incompatible with any EU or human rights obligations, and therefore in its capacity as 
the Local Planning Authority, has a legal duty to ‘make’ the Neighbourhood Plan. 
This must be done as soon as reasonably practicable after the referendum is held 
and in any event, within 8 weeks of the referendum (in accordance with Section 
38A(4) of the PCPA). This is a decision that must be taken by the Executive.  

 
7.3 Regulation 19 of the Regulations and Section 38A(9) of the PCPA require the 

Council to publish a statement setting out the decision, the reasons for making that 
decision and details of where and when the decision statement may be inspected. 
This Decision Statement is appended to this report in Appendix B, and sets out that 
the Council does not consider that the making of the Neighbourhood Plan would 
breach, or would otherwise be incompatible with, any EU obligation or any of the 
Convention rights.  An initial Equalities Impact Screening Assessment (EIA) is 

42



Unrestricted 

5 

 

provided in Appendix C. This indicates that the policies in the Neighbourhood Plan 
are not considered to prejudice any particular section of the community.  

 
7.4 If the Executive agrees the form and content of the Decision Statement set out in 

Appendix B, the Decision Statement will be published by the Council on its website 
and hard copies will be made available at Bracknell Central Library, Town Square, 
Bracknell, RG12 1BH.  

 
7.5 Regulation 19 and Section 38A(10) of the PCPA additionally require the Council to 

send a copy of the Decision Statement to the qualifying body (Bracknell Town 
Council) and any person who asked to be notified of the decision at  the Regulation 
16 stage.  

 
7.6 Once the Neighbourhood Plan is made, Regulation 20(a) of the Regulations requires 

the Council to publish the Neighbourhood Plan and details of where and when the 
Neighbourhood Plan may be inspected. The Regulations prescribe that it must be on 
the Council’s website and advertised so that it is brought to the attention of people 
who live, work or carry on business in the Bracknell Town Neighbourhood Area. A 
hard copy of the Neighbourhood Plan will therefore be made available at Bracknell 
Central Library.  

 
7.7 Regulation 20(b) requires the Council to notify any person who asked to be notified of 

the making of the Neighbourhood Plan that it has been made and where and when it 
may be inspected at the Regulation 16 stage.  

 
Implementation of the Bracknell Town Neighbourhood Plan 

7.8 If Executive agrees that the Neighbourhood Plan is made, the Neighbourhood Plan 
will continue to have full weight and be used, along with other adopted plans that 
together form the Bracknell Forest Development Plan, in the determination of 
planning applications relating to land in Bracknell Town Neighbourhood Area. 

 
7.9  The Neighbourhood Plan will be made on 27 October 2021 (assuming that this 

decision is not subject to call in) and this will be the date of the Decision Statement 
set out in Appendix B. 

 
7.10 Once made, the Neighbourhood Plan will alter the amount of Community 

Infrastructure Levy (CIL) receipts that are payable to Bracknell Town Council. 
Bracknell Town Council currently receives a neighbourhood funding element of CIL 
receipts of 15%; this is capped at £100 per dwelling. As a result of the 
Neighbourhood Plan being ‘made’, this increases to 25% of Levy receipts and is 
uncapped.  

 
7.11 Bracknell Town Council will receive 25% (uncapped) of CIL payments received once 

the Neighbourhood Plan is made (on or after 27 October2021) as set out in  
Regulation 59A of the Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 (as 
amended) (“CIL Regulations”). Regulation 59D of the CIL Regulations specifies that 
the neighbourhood portion of levy receipts must be paid every six months, at the end 
of October and the end of April unless otherwise agreed. 

 
7.12 The neighbourhood funding portion of the levy can be spent on a wider range of 

things than the rest of the levy, provided that it meets the requirement to ‘support the 
development of the area’ (in accordance with Regulation 59C of the CIL 
Regulations). The wider definition means that the neighbourhood funding portion can 
be spent on things other than infrastructure, such as affordable housing to address 
the demands that development places on the area. 

43



Unrestricted 

6 

 

 
Resource Implications 

7.13 The Council, as the local planning authority, has a statutory duty to provide advice 
and assistance and to carry out certain parts of the neighbourhood planning process. 
Any costs incurred have to be funded, although it has previously been possible to 
access some grant funding. To date the work has been resourced from within 
existing budgets supplemented by grant money from Government, although it is 
unclear at this stage what the final cost of ‘making’ the Neighbourhood Plan will be. 
The CIL receipts that Bracknell Town Council receives will increase from 15% 
capped to £100 per dwelling, to 25% uncapped. 

 
7.14 So far, the work of supporting the preparation of the Neighbourhood Plan has been 

carried out predominantly by staff within Place, Planning and Regeneration. However 
other Services have been involved in dispensing the Council’s statutory 
responsibilities, for example Electoral Services and Legal.  

 
8 Advice received from statutory and other officers 

Legal advice 

8.1 The recommendation seeks the approval of the Executive for the Neighbourhood 
Plan to be made – to continue to form part of the Development Plan, pursuant to 
Section 38A(4) of the PCPA, and the Decision Statement (set out in Appendix B) to 
be published pursuant to Regulation 19 of the Regulations 2012 (as amended) (“the 
Regulations”).  

8.2 The Neighbourhood Plan meets the basic conditions as confirmed by the Examiner’s 
report and “Post Examination Decision Statement” referenced at paragraph 5.2 of the 
report. It is considered that the Neighbourhood Plan has satisfactorily completed the 
necessary legal and procedural steps, to date, as required by the PCPA, TCPA and 
Regulations.  

 
8.3 A neighbourhood development plan comes into legal force with immediate effect if 

more than half of those voting at a referendum have voted in favour of the 
neighbourhood development plan. This referendum was held on the 9 September 
2021.  

 
8.4 Section 38A(a) of the PCPA requires the Council to “make” a neighbourhood 

development plan (formally decide that it will continue to be in legal force) as soon as 
reasonably practicable if approved at a referendum and, in any event, within 8 weeks 
of the referendum. The Council is not subject to this if the making of the 
neighbourhood development plan would breach, or would otherwise be incompatible 
with, any EU obligation or any of the Convention rights (within the meaning of the 
Human Rights Act 1998 (as amended)), in which case the neighbourhood 
development plan would cease to form part of the Development Plan. 
 

8.4 Paragraphs 6.15-6.16 of the report confirm that a positive referendum result was 
achieved and that at least (50% + 1) of voters were in favour of the Neighbourhood 
Plan (see Appendix A). The report also confirms that the Council is satisfied that the 
making of the Neighbourhood Plan would not breach, nor would otherwise be 
incompatible with, any EU obligation or any of the Convention rights (within the 
meaning of the Human Rights Act 1998 (as amended)), see paragraph 7.3. 
 

8.5 Neighbourhood planning is a legal process which the Council has a statutory duty to 
facilitate and administer. The PCPA, TCPA, Regulations and the Local Government 
(Functions and Responsibilities Act) England Regulations 2010 are silent as to the 

44



Unrestricted 

7 

 

appropriate decision making process.  Arrangements for the exercise of powers in 
decision making relating to neighbourhood planning were agreed by the Executive 
Member for Council Strategy and Community Cohesion (the Leader of the Council) 
and delegated to the Executive Member for Planning and Transport and the Director 
of Place, Planning and Regeneration (in respect of administrative decisions only), by 
way of a decision on 26 February 20161.  

 
8.7 Decision 14 of the Revised Table A, Appendix B, of the 26 February 2016 decision 

reserves the decision to make a neighbourhood development plan, by bringing it into 
legal force, to the Executive. This reservation is made pursuant to Section 9D(1) of 
the Local Government Act 2000, which provides that all functions of an authority are 
to be the responsibility of the Executive unless specified in regulations made under 
that section or specified in any enactment passed or made after that Act was passed.  

 
8.9 The Executive is also asked to approve the form and content of the Decision 

Statement. As advised in the report, this document sets out the Council’s reasons for 
making the Neighbourhood Plan and details of where the Neighbourhood Plan can 
be inspected. The Council is under a statutory duty to publish this document pursuant 
to Regulation 19 of the Regulations and the decision making process governing this 
decision. In the event that the Executive approves the form and content of the 
Decision Statement set out in Appendix B, the administrative function of publicising 
the Decision Statement will be undertaken by the Executive Director: Place, Planning 
and Regeneration by way of delegated powers (decision 14A) of the Revised Table B 
to the 26 February 2016 decision. 

 
8.10 Therefore, for the reasons set out above and in accordance with Part 2 of the 

Bracknell Forest Council Constitution 10 March 2021, paragraph 5.6 (Executive 
Committee Terms of Reference), which provides that the Executive is responsible for 
all Executive decision-making within the policy framework, the Recommendation falls 
within the reservation of the Executive.  

 
Financial advice 

8.11 The Council has a statutory duty to facilitate and administer the neighbourhood 
planning process. Any costs incurred have to be funded. Grant funding has been 
accessed on completion of previous stages of the neighbourhood planning process. 

8.12 So far, the work of supporting the preparation of the Bracknell Town Neighbourhood 
Plan has been carried out predominantly by staff within Place, Planning and 
Regeneration. However other Services have been involved in dispensing the 
Council’s statutory responsibilities, for example Electoral Services and Legal. In 
addition, the Examiner has had to be paid. To date the work has been resourced 
from within existing budgets. Although nearing the final stages, it is unclear at this 
stage what the final cost of the process of ‘making’ the Neighbourhood Plan will be. 
However, these costs should be met within existing budgets. 

8.12 There are additional financial implications for making the Neighbourhood Plan. The 
CIL receipts that Bracknell Town Council receives will increase from 15% capped to 
£100 per dwelling, to 25% uncapped. 

 
 
 
Equalities Impact Assessment (EqIA) 

                                                
1 Decision on amendments to arrangements for the exercise of powers relating to the Neighbourhood 
Planning Process: https://democratic.bracknell-forest.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?Id=2390  

45

https://democratic.bracknell-forest.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?Id=2390


Unrestricted 

8 

 

8.13 An EqIA screening exercise has been undertaken on the Bracknell Town 
Neighbourhood Plan (incorporating modifications), which can be found in Appendix 
C. This EqIA screening has found that the policies in the Bracknell Town 
Neighbourhood Plan are not considered to prejudice any particular section of the 
community. 

 
Strategic Risk Management Issues 

8.14 Planning policies in the Neighbourhood Plan would help ensure that development 

proposals align with some of the Council’s priorities, including protecting and 

enhancing our environment, communities and economic resilience. 

 

8.15 If the Bracknell Town Neighbourhood Plan is not bought into legal force, Bracknell 

Forest Council is at risk of non-compliance with Section 38A of the PCPA and the 

Regulations.  

 

 Climate Change 

8.16 Some of the planning policies in the Neighbourhood Plan include measures that have 

the potential to reduce emissions, such as protecting retail and encouraging active 

uses thus reducing the need for residents to travel to meet day-to-day needs.  They 

also include proposals to encourage non-car modes of transport and the protection 

and planting of trees and to encourage energy efficiency and use of sustainable 

construction materials. 

 

 Health 

8.17 Policy measures aimed at protecting retail (Section 7 Economy and Employment) 

and encouraging active uses (Section 8 Transport & Infrastructure) have the potential 

to encourage the use of more sustainable forms of transport such as cycling and 

walking which have health benefits. Furthermore, Policy EV9 requires legislative 

limits for human health to be met by proposals for sensitive receptors (such as 

residential developments) within and adjacent to Air Quality Management Areas.   

Policies EV1 and EV2 include measures to protect new green spaces for the local 

community, which would assist psychological wellbeing and physical activity. 

 
9 Consultation 

 
Principal Groups Consulted 

9.1 Those eligible to vote who lived in the Bracknell Town Neighbourhood Area on 9 
September 2021.  

Method of Consultation 

9.2 A local community referendum was held on 9 September 2021. 

Representations Received 

9.3 84.6% of those who voted did so in favour of making the Bracknell Town 
Neighbourhood Plan. Turnout was 9.6%. 

Background Papers 

 The Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations 2012 (as amended) 

 The Neighbourhood Planning (Referendum) Regulations 2012 (as amended) 

 Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended) 

 The Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (as amended) 

46



Unrestricted 

9 

 

 The Local Government and Police and Crime Commissioner (Coronavirus) 
(Postponement of Elections and Referendums) Regulations 2020 

 The Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 (as amended) 

 Planning Practice Guidance CIL: https://www.gov.uk/guidance/community-
infrastructure-levy#spending-the-levy  

 Amendments to the arrangements of powers relating to the Neighbourhood 
Planning Process (Leader decision of 26 February 2016): 
http://democratic.bracknell-
forest.gov.uk/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=58779&optionId=0   

 Bracknell Town Neighbourhood Plan, Bracknell Town Neighbourhood Area 
Designation, Examiner’s report, Post Examination Decision Statement, and 
Consultation information: https://www.bracknell-forest.gov.uk/planning-and-
building-control/planning/planning-policy/neighbourhood-planning/bracknell-town-
neighbourhood-area  

 Bracknell Town Neighbourhood Plan referendum information: 
https://www.bracknell-forest.gov.uk/elections-and-voting/current-elections  

 Background information on the Bracknell Town Neighbourhood Plan:  
https://bracknelltowncouncil.gov.uk/bracknell/bracknell-town-neighbourhood-
plan/neighbourhood-planning/ 

 
 
 
Appendices 
Appendix A – Official result sheet of the referendum on the Bracknell Town Neighbourhood 

Plan 
Appendix B – Decision Statement pursuant to Regulation 19 
Appendix C – Initial Equalities Impact Screening Assessment on the Bracknell Town 

Neighbourhood Plan (incorporating modifications) 
 
Contact for further information 
Andrew Hunter, Director of Place, Planning and Regeneration - 01344 351907 
Andrew.Hunter@bracknell-forest.gov.uk  
 
Ann Moore, Head of Democratic and Registration Services – 01344 352260 
Ann.Moore@bracknell-forest.gov.uk  
 

47

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/community-infrastructure-levy#spending-the-levy
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/community-infrastructure-levy#spending-the-levy
http://democratic.bracknell-forest.gov.uk/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=58779&optionId=0
http://democratic.bracknell-forest.gov.uk/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=58779&optionId=0
https://www.bracknell-forest.gov.uk/planning-and-building-control/planning/planning-policy/neighbourhood-planning/bracknell-town-neighbourhood-area
https://www.bracknell-forest.gov.uk/planning-and-building-control/planning/planning-policy/neighbourhood-planning/bracknell-town-neighbourhood-area
https://www.bracknell-forest.gov.uk/planning-and-building-control/planning/planning-policy/neighbourhood-planning/bracknell-town-neighbourhood-area
https://www.bracknell-forest.gov.uk/elections-and-voting/current-elections
https://bracknelltowncouncil.gov.uk/bracknell/bracknell-town-neighbourhood-plan/neighbourhood-planning/
https://bracknelltowncouncil.gov.uk/bracknell/bracknell-town-neighbourhood-plan/neighbourhood-planning/
mailto:Andrew.Hunter@bracknell-forest.gov.uk
mailto:Ann.Moore@bracknell-forest.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Declaration of Result of Poll 
Referendum on the Neighbourhood 
Plan for Bracknell Town

Printed and published by the Counting Officer, Time Square, Market Street Bracknell, RG12 1JD 

I, Philip Sadler, being the Deputy Counting Officer for the above referendum, held on 
Thursday 9 September 2021 do hereby give notice that the number of votes cast on the 
question:

"Do you want Bracknell Forest Council to use the neigbourhood plan for Bracknell Town to 
help it decide planning applications in the neighbourhood area?"

 were as follows:

Votes Recorded Result 

Number of votes cast for Yes 3,475  DECLARED 

Number of votes cast for No 582

The number of ballot papers rejected was as follows: Number of 
ballot papers 

A want of an official mark 

B voting for more answers than required 3 

C writing or mark by which voter could be identified 

D being unmarked or wholly void for uncertainty 23 

E rejected in part 

Total 28 

Electorate: 42,387

Ballot papers issued:4,085

Turnout: 9.6%

Philip Sadler
Deputy Counting Officer (Full Powers) 
Dated: 10 September 2021 

0 

2 

0 

I do declare that more than half of those who have voted have voted in favour of the 
Neighbourhood Plan being used to determine planning applications in the Neighbourhood 
area.

49



This page is intentionally left blank



 

1 

 

Bracknell Forest Council  
Bracknell Town Neighbourhood Plan 2016-2036 
 
 
Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (as amended) 
 

 
DECISION STATEMENT MAKING  

THE BRACKNELL TOWN NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN  
 
This document is the Decision Statement required to be prepared under Section 38A(9) of 
the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (as amended) (“the 2004 Act”) and 
Regulation 19(a) of the Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations 2012 (as amended) 
(“the Regulations”). It sets out the Council’s considerations and formal decision to make the 
Bracknell Town Neighbourhood Plan following the successful local referendum held on 9 
September 2021. 
 
1.0 SUMMARY 
 
1.1 Following a successful local referendum held on 9 September 2021, the Bracknell 

Town Neighbourhood Plan came into legal force as part of the statutory Development 
Plan for Bracknell Forest with immediate effect. 
 

1.2 On 19 October 2021, Bracknell Forest Council’s Executive decided to formally make 
the Bracknell Town Neighbourhood Plan under Section 38A(4) of the 2004 Act. The 
Bracknell Town Neighbourhood Plan therefore continues to form part of the statutory 
Development Plan for Bracknell Forest. 

 

1.3 In accordance with Regulation 19 of the Regulations, this Decision Statement can be 
viewed on the Council’s website: www.bracknell-forest.gov.uk/developmentplan  
 

1.4 In accordance with Regulation 20 of the Regulations, the Bracknell Town 
Neighbourhood Plan can be viewed at Bracknell Central Library and on the Council’s 
website: www.bracknell-forest.gov.uk/developmentplan  

 
1.5 Hard copies of this Decision Statement and the Bracknell Town Neighbourhood Plan 

can be inspected at: Bracknell Central Library, Town Square, Bracknell, RG12 1BH 
(Open: Monday 9:30am to 5pm; Tuesday, Thursday and Friday 9:30am to 7pm; 
Saturday 9:30am to 4pm).  

 

1.6 It is not currently possible to make the Decision Statement available for inspection at 
the Bracknell Forest Council or Bracknell Town Council offices. 

  

51

http://www.bracknell-forest.gov.uk/developmentplan
http://www.bracknell-forest.gov.uk/developmentplan


 

2 

 

2.0 BACKGROUND 
 
2.1 The Bracknell Town Neighbourhood Plan relates to the area that was designated by 

the Council as a Neighbourhood Area on 11 February 2014. This area is coterminous 
with the Bracknell Town boundary and is entirely within the Local Planning Authority 
area. 

 
2.2 The Bracknell Town Neighbourhood Plan was examined by Mr. John Slater; the 

Council received his Examiner’s report on 23 April 2020. The report concluded that 
subject to making the modifications recommended by the Examiner, the Plan met the 
basic conditions set out in the legislation and should proceed to a Neighbourhood 
Planning referendum. The Examiner also recommended that the referendum area was 
based on the Neighbourhood Area that was designated by the Council on 11 February 
2014. 

 
2.3 The Post Examination Decision Statement (a report that outlines all the Examiner’s 

modifications and confirms the Council’s consideration and decision on them) and the 
decision to submit the Bracknell Town Neighbourhood Plan to a referendum were both 
agreed by the Leader/Executive Member for Council Strategy and Community 
Cohesion on 9 July 2021. The Post Examination Decision Statement was published by 
the Council on its website on 19 July 2021. 

 
2.4 On 9 September 2021, the Bracknell Town Neighbourhood Plan successfully passed 

referendum with 84.6% of those who voted casting ballots in favour of the Bracknell 
Town Neighbourhood Plan being used to help to decide planning applications in the 
Bracknell Town Neighbourhood Area. The Bracknell Town Neighbourhood Plan came 
into legal force as part of the statutory Bracknell Forest Development Plan with 
immediate effect. 

 
2.5 On 19 October 2021, the Executive of Bracknell Forest Council resolved that the 

Bracknell Town Neighbourhood Plan (incorporating modifications set out in the Post 
Examination Decision Statement), be formally made and continue to form part of the 
statutory Development Plan for Bracknell Forest. It will sit alongside the other adopted 
Local Plans that together form the Development Plan. 

 
2.6 Bracknell Forest Council is continuing to advance the Bracknell Forest Local Plan 

which will set the strategic context within which the Bracknell Town Neighbourhood 
Plan will sit. 

 
3.0 DECISION AND REASONS 

 
3.1 Section 38A(4)(a) of the 2004 Act requires the Council to make the Neighbourhood 

Plan if more than half of those voting in the referendum have voted in favour of the 
Plan being used to help decide planning applications in the Neighbourhood Area. The 
Bracknell Town Neighbourhood Plan was endorsed by more than the required 
threshold in the referendum on 9 September 2021 (84.6% voted in favour).  

 
3.2 Section 38A(6) of the 2004 Act states that the Local Planning Authority is not subject 

to the duty if it considers that the making of the Plan would breach, or would otherwise 
be incompatible with, any EU obligation or any of the Convention rights (within the 
meaning of the Human Rights Act 1998 (as amended)). In the report to Executive on 
19 October 2021, the Council appended an Initial Equalities Impact Screening 
Assessment which concluded that that the policies in the Bracknell Town 
Neighbourhood Plan were not considered to prejudice any particular section of the 
community. The Council issued a Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) and 

52



 

3 

 

Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA) Screening Determination in July 2018, which 
confirmed to Bracknell Town Council that a SEA and a full HRA were not required on 
the Bracknell Town Neighbourhood Plan. The Examiner also concluded in his April 
2020 report that the Bracknell Town Neighbourhood Plan is compatible with the 
Convention rights (within the meaning of the Human Rights Act 1998 (as amended)) 
and EU obligations. The Council therefore does not consider that the Bracknell Town 
Neighbourhood Plan (incorporating modifications set out in the Post Examination 
Decision Statement) is in breach of the relevant legislation. 

 
3.3 The Council considers that the Bracknell Town Neighbourhood Plan meets the basic 

conditions (set out in paragraph 8(2) of Schedule 4B of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990 (as amended)), its promotion process was compliant with legal and 
procedural requirement, it does not breach the legislation (set out in Section 38A(6) of 
the 2004 Act) and confirms that more than half of those who voted in the referendum 
on 9 September 2021, voted in favour of making the Plan.  

 
3.4 As a result of the Executive resolution of 19 October 2021, Bracknell Forest Council 

has made the Bracknell Town Neighbourhood Plan, keeping it in legal force in 
accordance with Section 38A (4) of the 2004 Act. The Bracknell Town Neighbourhood 
Plan forms part of the statutory Development Plan for Bracknell Forest and can be 
used in decision making on planning applications in Bracknell Town Neighbourhood 
Area. Consequently, decisions on whether or not to grant planning permission in 
Bracknell Town will need to be made in accordance with Bracknell Town 
Neighbourhood Plan, unless material considerations indicate otherwise. 

 
4.0 OTHER INFORMATION 

 
4.1 In accordance with Regulation 19(b) of the Regulations, a copy of this Decision 

Statement has been sent to: 
 

 The qualifying body, namely Bracknell Town Council 

 The persons who asked to be notified of the decision. 

 
4.2 This Decision Statement, the Bracknell Town Neighbourhood Plan and relevant 

documents can be viewed as set out in paragraph’s 1.3 to 1.5 of this Decision 
Statement. 

 
 
Andrew Hunter, Executive Director: Place, Planning and Regeneration – 01344 351907 
Andrew.Hunter@bracknell-forest.gov.uk  
  
Date: 27 October 2021 

53

mailto:Andrew.Hunter@bracknell-forest.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

Initial Equalities Screening Record Form 
 

Date of Screening: April 2021 Directorate: Place, Planning and Regeneration Section: Planning 

1.  Activity to be assessed Bracknell Town Neighbourhood Plan (Referendum version, incorporating modifications) 

2.  What is the activity?  Policy/strategy   

3.  Is it a new or existing activity?  New  

4.  Officer responsible for the screening Principal Planning Officer, Development Plan 

5.  Who are the members of the screening team? Assistant Director: Planning and Team Manager - Development Plan 

6.  What is the purpose of the activity? Bracknell Town Council has written a Neighbourhood Development Plan (the Plan) for its area with the involvement and help 
of the local community.  

 

The Plan sets out objectives for the future of the area and contains planning policies to guide the development and use of 
land in Bracknell Town Parish, and covers the period 2016-2036.  The Plan has been subject to two formal public 
consultations (under Regulation 14 and Regulation 16 of the Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations (2012) (as 
amended)) and has been examined by an Independent Examiner.  

 

The Examiner recommended that, subject to the modifications recommended in his report, the Bracknell Town 
Neighbourhood Plan is submitted to referendum.  A referendum was duly held on 9 September 2021. 

 

As more than half of those voting, voted in favour of the Plan at a referendum, it will now become part of the statutory 
Development Plan for Bracknell Forest. 

 

7.  Who is the activity designed to benefit/target?  The Bracknell Town Neighbourhood Plan aims to create benefits for everyone who lives, works, shops or spends leisure 
time in Bracknell Town parish.  The planning policies will be used when determining planning applications relating to land 
within the neighbourhood area of Bracknell Town.  The Plan will be used by applicants and Council officers to shape new 
development within the parish.  Neighbourhood Planning is an initiative which was brought in by the government to help 
empower local communities. 

Protected Characteristics 

 

Please 
tick 

yes or 
no 

Is there an equality impact? 

If so, what kind of equality impact may there be, and 
is the impact positive or adverse or is there a 
potential for both?   

If the impact is neutral please give a reason. 

What evidence do you have to support this? 

E.g equality monitoring data, consultation results, 
customer satisfaction information etc 

Please add a narrative to justify your claims around 
impacts and describe the analysis and interpretation of 
evidence to support your conclusion as this will inform 
members decision making, include consultation 
results/satisfaction information/equality monitoring data 

55



 

 

8. Disability Equality – this can include physical, 
mental health, learning or sensory disabilities and 
includes conditions such as dementia as well as 
hearing or sight impairment. 
 

Y  There is likely to be an overall positive impact. Whilst there are no specific policies in the Plan that 
make provision for specific groups of people, the Plan 
includes policies to support proposals which retain, 
improve and enhance community facilities and support 
development that will allow for complementary uses 
alongside present and future community facilities, 
together with the retention of community facilities, which 
are often used by various groups.  There are also 
policies which support the retention of open space of 
public value, and protect local green spaces, which will 
be of benefit to all within the community in terms of 
physical and mental wellbeing.  Policies which allow for 
reprovision of certain facilities under certain conditions,  
include criteria for these to be accessible by foot (for 
example allotments and open space).  There are also 
policies which support the retention and enhancement 
of cycleways and footpaths between Bracknell Town 
Centre, schools and residential neighbourhoods. 

 

9.  Racial equality  

 
   There is likely to be a neutral impact. 

 

 

It is not envisaged that there will be a differential  

impact based on racial equality, as there are no specific 
policies in the Plan that make provision for specific 
groups of people. 

 

The policies within the Plan relate to: 

 the protection and enhancement of the 
character of the environment and community 
(such as protection of open spaces,  
community facilities, heritage assets, policies 
relating to air quality and biodiversity, 
managing street scape and local character), 

 supporting the local economy (such as small 
businesses,  maintaining and enhancing 
existing neighbourhood shopping centres 
(including Bracknell Town Centre),  and 
supporting the use of two centres for lifelong 
learning), and 

 strengthening local transport infrastructure and 
ensuring Bracknell is sustainable (such as 
retaining and enhancing cycle ways and 
footpaths, supporting school pick up and drop 
off areas).  

 

56



 

 

These policies should have a positive impact on all who 
live and work within the neighbourhood plan area 
equally rather than specific groups, so there is not 
considered to be any equality impact. 

10. Gender equality  
 

  There is likely to be a neutral impact. 

 

 

It is not envisaged that there will be a differential  

impact based on gender equality, as there are no 
specific policies in the Plan that make provisions for 
specific groups of people. 

 

The policies within the Plan relate to: 

 the protection and enhancement of the 
character of the environment and community 
(such as protection of open spaces,  
community facilities, heritage assets, policies 
relating to air quality and biodiversity, 
managing street scape and local character), 

 supporting the local economy (such as small 
businesses,  maintaining and enhancing 
existing neighbourhood shopping centres 
(including Bracknell Town Centre),  and 
supporting the use of two centres for lifelong 
learning), and 

 strengthening local transport infrastructure and 
ensuring Bracknell is sustainable (such as 
retaining and enhancing cycle ways and 
footpaths, supporting school pick up and drop 
off areas).  

 

These policies should have a positive impact on all who 
live and work within the neighbourhood plan area 
equally rather than specific groups, so there is not 
considered to be any equality impact. 

 

11. Sexual orientation equality 

 
  There is likely to be a neutral impact. 

 

 

 

It is not envisaged that there will be a differential  

impact based on sexual orientation equality, as there 
are no specific policies in the Plan that make provision 
for specific groups of people. 

 

The policies within the Plan relate to: 

 the protection and enhancement of the 
character of the environment and community 

57



 

 

(such as protection of open spaces,  
community facilities, heritage assets, policies 
relating to air quality and biodiversity, 
managing street scape and local character), 

 supporting the local economy (such as small 
businesses,  maintaining and enhancing 
existing neighbourhood shopping centres 
(including Bracknell Town Centre),  and 
supporting the use of two centres for lifelong 
learning), and 

 strengthening local transport infrastructure and 
ensuring Bracknell is sustainable (such as 
retaining and enhancing cycle ways and 
footpaths, supporting school pick up and drop 
off areas).  

 

These policies should have a positive impact on all who 
live and work within the neighbourhood plan area 
equally rather than specific groups, so there is not 
considered to be any equality impact. 

 

12. Gender re-assignment 
 

  There is likely to be a neutral impact. 

 

 
 
 

It is not envisaged that there will be a differential  

impact based on gender re-assignment equality, as 
there are no specific policies in the Plan that make 
provision for specific groups of people. 

 

The policies within the Plan relate to: 

 the protection and enhancement of the 
character of the environment and community 
(such as protection of open spaces,  
community facilities, heritage assets, policies 
relating to air quality and biodiversity, 
managing street scape and local character), 

 supporting the local economy (such as small 
businesses,  maintaining and enhancing 
existing neighbourhood shopping centres 
(including Bracknell Town Centre),  and 
supporting the use of two centres for lifelong 
learning), and 

 strengthening local transport infrastructure and 
ensuring Bracknell is sustainable (such as 
retaining and enhancing cycle ways and 

58



 

 

footpaths, supporting school pick up and drop 
off areas).  

 

These policies should have a positive impact on all who 
live and work within the neighbourhood plan area 
equally rather than specific groups, so there is not 
considered to be any equality impact. 

 

13. Age equality  
 

Y  There is likely to be an overall positive impact. 

 

Whilst there are no specific policies in the Plan that 
make provision for specific groups of people, the Plan 
includes policies to support proposals which retain, 
improve and enhance community facilities, and support 
development that will allow for complementary uses 
alongside present and future community facilities 
retention of community facilities, which are often used 
by various groups of any age.  There is also a policy 
which will support proposals for retention and continued 
use of Bracknell and Wokingham College and Bracknell 
Open Learning Centre for lifelong learning.  There are 
also policies which support the retention of open space 
of public value, and protect local green spaces, which 
will be of benefit to all within the community.  There are 
also policies which support the retention and 
enhancement of cycleways and footpaths between 
Bracknell Town Centre, schools and residential 
neighbourhoods. 

 

14. Religion and belief equality  
 

  There is likely to be a neutral impact. 

 

It is not envisaged that there will be a differential  

impact based on religion and belief equality, as there 
are no specific policies in the Plan that make provision 
for specific groups of people. 

 

The policies within the Plan relate to: 

 the protection and enhancement of the 
character of the environment and community 
(such as protection of open spaces,  
community facilities, heritage assets, policies 
relating to air quality and biodiversity, 
managing street scape and local character), 

 supporting the local economy (such as small 
businesses,  maintaining and enhancing 
existing neighbourhood shopping centres 

59



 

 

(including Bracknell Town Centre),  and 
supporting the use of two centres for lifelong 
learning), and 

 strengthening local transport infrastructure and 
ensuring Bracknell is sustainable (such as 
retaining and enhancing cycle ways and 
footpaths, supporting school pick up and drop 
off areas).  

 

These policies should have a positive impact on all who 
live and work within the neighbourhood plan area 
equally rather than specific groups, so there is not 
considered to be any equality impact. 

 

15. Pregnancy and maternity equality  Y  There is likely to be an overall positive impact. 

 

Whilst there are no specific policies in the Plan that 
make provision for specific groups of people, the Plan 
includes policies to support proposals which retain, 
improve and enhance community facilities, and support 
development that will allow for complementary uses 
alongside present and future community facilities 
retention of community facilities, which are often used 
by health workers, and for play groups etc. 

 

16. Marriage and civil partnership equality    There is likely to be a neutral impact. 

 

 

 

It is not envisaged that there will be a differential  

impact based on marriage and civil partnership equality, 
as there are no specific policies in the Plan that make 
provision for specific groups of people.  

 

The policies within the Plan relate to: 

 the protection and enhancement of the 
character of the environment and community 
(such as protection of open spaces,  
community facilities, heritage assets, policies 
relating to air quality and biodiversity, 
managing street scape and local character), 

 supporting the local economy (such as small 
businesses,  maintaining and enhancing 
existing neighbourhood shopping centres 
(including Bracknell Town Centre),  and 
supporting the use of two centres for lifelong 
learning), and 

60



 

 

 strengthening local transport infrastructure and 
ensuring Bracknell is sustainable (such as 
retaining and enhancing cycle ways and 
footpaths, supporting school pick up and drop 
off areas).  

 

These policies should have a positive impact on all who 
live and work within the neighbourhood plan area 
equally rather than specific groups, so there is not 
considered to be any equality impact. 

 

17. Please give details of any other potential 
impacts on any other group (e.g. those on lower 
incomes/carers/ex-offenders, armed forces 
communities) and on promoting good community 
relations. 

Overall the Plan aims to improve the social wellbeing, environment and economic prospects of the Plan area: 

 

• protect open space of public value and local green space (Policies EV1 and EV2), and support proposals which support 
improved public access to watercourses and river corridors (Policy EV8) 

• protect/provide additional habitat resources for wildlife through protection of trees, new tree planting, and green space 
biodiversity corridors in private gardens (Policies EV3, EV4, EV5, and HO5) 

• protect air quality (Policy EV9) 

• safeguard heritage assets (Policies HE1-HE3) 

• support proposals for smaller business (Polices EC1 and EC2), maintain and enhance neighbourhood shopping centres 
(Policy EC3), safeguard community facilities (Policy EV12), support  proposals which ensure retention and continued 
use of centres which provide long-term learning opportunities (Policy EC4), and support proposals which incorporate a 
mix of uses in Bracknell Town Centre (Policy EC5) 

• safeguard local character (Policies HO7 and HO8) 

• retain, improve and enhance cycleways and footpaths (Policies TR2 and TR3), support provision of school pick up and 
drop off areas (TR5), seek to avoid severe cumulative impacts upon the highway network (Policy TR8). 

 

The Plan therefore should result in a positive impact on the community overall.  In addition, this is a Plan that has been 
prepared and written by the local community - not Bracknell Forest Council - and as such it reflects local community 
issues/views and aspirations.  

 

Furthermore, through the examination process, the independent Examiner concluded that ‘I am also content that the plan 
has no conflict with the Human Rights Act and no representations on that issue have been submitted.’ 

18.  If an adverse/negative impact has been 
identified can it be justified on grounds of 
promoting equality of opportunity for one group or 
for any other reason? 

N/A 

19. If there is any difference in the impact of the 
activity when considered for each of the equality 
groups listed in 8 – 14 above; how significant is the 

No negative impacts have been identified in respect of any of the groups listed in 8-16, above. 

 

61



 

 

difference in terms of its nature and the number of 
people likely to be affected? 

20. Could the impact constitute unlawful 
discrimination in relation to any of the Equality 
Duties? 

 N    

21.  What further information or data is required to 
better understand the impact? Where and how can 
that information be obtained? 

The Bracknell Town Neighbourhood Plan will form part of the statutory Development Plan for Bracknell Forest once it is 
‘made’ (brought into legal force), and therefore relevant planning policies will be monitored as part of the ‘Authority 
Monitoring Reports’.   

22.  On the basis of sections 7 – 17 above is a full 
impact assessment required?  

 N Full assessment is not required, as no potentially negative impacts have been identified.  The Plan has 
been produced by and for the local community of Bracknell Town.  Furthermore, the electorate of 
Bracknell Town parish will have the opportunity to vote on whether the Plan is ‘made’ at a local 
community referendum. 

23. If a full impact assessment is not required; what actions will you take to reduce or remove any potential differential/adverse impact, to further promote equality of 
opportunity through this activity or to obtain further information or data?  Please complete the action plan in full, adding more rows as needed. 

Action Timescale Person Responsible Milestone/Success Criteria 

‘Make’ the Plan (bring into legal force) so that it can be used when 
determining planning applications. 

19 October 
2021 

 Executive Executive agree to bring the Plan into legal force and a decision is 
published (in accordance with Regulation 19). 

Monitor the effectiveness or otherwise of planning policies in the 
neighbourhood Plan. 

On-going 
(following 
the making 
of the Plan) 

Development Plan 
Team 

As decisions on planning applications are made using policies in the 
Plan (both delegated, committee and appeals), an understanding of 
the effectiveness of the policies will be gained. 

24.  Which service, business or work plan will these actions be 
included in? 

Planning 

25. Please list the current actions undertaken to advance 
equality or examples of good practice identified as part of the 
screening? 

The Council’s Statement of Community Involvement (February 2014) sets out how the Council will consult on 
formulating planning policy documents. The stages and nature of consultations on neighbourhood plans are 
also stipulated in national legislation, policy (National Planning Policy Framework) and guidance (Planning 
Practice Guidance). 
 

Bracknell Town Council undertook consultation to inform the preparation of the Plan prior to submitting the Plan 
to the Council (Regulation 14 consultation between 9 June and 20 August 2018).  Bracknell Forest Council 

62



 

 

undertook a statutory 6-week public consultation on the submission version of the Bracknell Town 
Neighbourhood Plan (Regulation 16 consultation between 7 January and 18 February 2019).  A focused 
consultation was also held during the course of the examination (between 18 November and 16 December 
2019).   

 

The Plan was also subject to a local community referendum on 9 September 2021, in line with regulations, 
which ensures the process is democratic. 

26. Assistant Director’s signature. Signature:                                                                                                  Date: 03/09/2021 

 

63



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

To: The Executive 
19 October 2021 

  
 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT AND SOCIAL CARE OMBUDSMAN 
ANNUAL REVIEW LETTER 

Chief Executive 
 
 
 

1 Purpose of Report 
 

1.1 To provide an overview and commentary of the Local Government and Social Care 
Ombudsman (LGSCO) annual review letter, received July 2021. 
 
 

2 Recommendation 
 

2.1 To note the Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman’s annual review 
letter 2021. 
 
 

3 Reasons for Recommendation 
 

3.1 The annual review letter provides the council with information to help assess the 
council’s performance in handling complaints.  
 

4 Alternative Options Considered 
 

4.1 None considered. 
 
 

5 Supporting Information 
 

5.1 The annual review letter from the LGSCO provides local authorities with an overview 
of the council’s performance in complaint handling, covering the financial year, April 
2020 to March 2021 in this case.  In addition, the review provides a general update 
on resources to support councils with complaints handling. 
 

5.2 During the period covered in this letter, the pandemic has significantly affected 
operations in all councils.  Indeed, the LGSCO even paused its operations at the end 
of March 2020 until later in June.  This will have reduced the number of complaints 
investigated and decided during the year.  
 

5.3 The overriding message from the LGSCO report is that there were only five findings 
of fault by the LGSCO against the council in the year.  Given that the organisation is 
involved in, literally, millions of interactions with residents and businesses each year 
this is a strikingly low number.  Nonetheless, it is important to look seriously at those 
cases where mistakes may have been made so that we can improve further in the 
future.  This report is a part of that process. 
 

5.4 The data provided in the review letter is available publicly on the online interactive 
map ‘Your Council’s Performance’.  This information also allows comparison against 
other councils.  Given that the report is published, it is regrettable that the LGSCO 
has decided to comment on a number of private challenges that were made to their 

65

Agenda Item 7

https://www.lgo.org.uk/your-councils-performance


 

approach during the year.  There is little to be gained from entering into a public 
dispute with the LGSCO, but the various statements made about the council’s 
approach represents a one-sided view and masks fundamental concerns about the 
way a small number of investigations were managed.  As one example, the case in 
which the LGSCO’s approach “was questioned at every stage of the investigation”, 
related to events that occurred in 2017 and 2018 - which took the complaint well 
outside of the LGSCO’s published guidelines for the timescales within which it will 
accept complaints for review.  All staff involved had left the authority and the 
complainant had made serious and ongoing threats to previous and present 
members of staff.  Other challenges were based upon equivalent issues and none 
were frivolous or vexatious and none of our comments were inappropriate. 

 
5.5 That said, the LGSCO does have an important role.  In 2020/21 the LGSCO 

conducted detailed investigations into eight cases at Bracknell Forest Council, which 
is two more than the previous year.  This number is, however, amongst the lowest 
compared to the council’s CIPFA neighbours, as illustrated in figure 1.  It should be 
noted that due to the relatively low number of complaints, the figures can be skewed 
significantly and can fluctuate year on year.  The number of complaints a council 
receives can vary significantly, for example in 2019/20 Bath and North East 
Somerset Council had 12 complaints investigations (three this year) and Milton 
Keynes Council had 13 (25 this year).  

 

Figure 1. Number of detailed investigations conducted by the LGSCO, comparison of CIPFA neighbours. 
 
 
5.6 In 2020/21, five of the detailed investigations (63%) resulted in the decision to uphold 

the complaint.  This has reduced since the previous year (83%) and is now aligned 
with the average (63%) and is lower than the average amongst CIPFA neighbours as 
illustrated in figure 2.  There is no correlation between the number of cases and the 
rate they are upheld across other authorities, nor a correlation between percentage 
upheld last year compared to this year.  

3
5

8
8
8
8
8

9
9

10
11
11

13
13

18
25

Bath and North East Somerset
Reading

Bracknell Forest
Bedford Borough

Warrington
Stockport

Wokingham
Swindon

West Berkshire
Solihull

South Gloucestershire
Central Bedfordshire

Windsor and Maidenhead
Thurrock
Trafford

Milton Keynes

Number of detailed investigations

66



 

 

Figure 2. Proportion of detailed investigations with upheld complaints, comparison of CIPFA neighbours. 
 
 
5.7 The majority of the upheld complaints were linked to education and children’s 

services which is the case for most upper tier authorities.  Two detailed investigations 
took place outside the People Directorate, in Place, Planning & Regeneration, 
however these were not upheld, one further from adult care services was not upheld.  
This is illustrated in figure 3.  

 

  
Figure 3. Services related to upheld complaints.  
 
 
5.8 A summary of the upheld decisions is included in annex A, please note that one 

decision is not published by the LGSCO due to confidentiality and has therefore not 
been included.   

 
5.9 The summaries illustrate that there are several services that have received multiple 

complaints, related to blue badges and Special Educational Needs (SEN). However, 
the majority of complaints to these services are not upheld.  Lessons have been 

3, 37%

4

1

5, 63%

Upheld Complaints

Not Upheld Education and Children's Services Adult Care Services

50%
55%
56%

60%
63%
63%

67%
67%
67%
68%
69%

75%
75%

80%
91%

100%

Wokingham
South Gloucestershire

West Berkshire
Reading

Bracknell Forest
Bedford Borough

Swindon
Trafford

Bath and North East Somerset
Milton Keynes

Windsor and Maidenhead
Warrington

Stockport
Solihull

Central Bedfordshire
Thurrock

Percentage of investigated complaints upheld

Upheld 

67



 

taken from the findings and both services have put in place improvements to address 
conclusions where there has been the opportunity to develop the service.  

 
5.10 In three cases, the outcome of the investigation required implementation of the 

LGSCO’s recommendations.  Bracknell Forest Council complied in 100% of these 
cases. 

 
5.11 The LGSCO encourages councils to use these figures as the start of a conversation, 

and not an absolute measure of the health of the organisation.  The council is 
currently reviewing the approach to managing corporate complaints, including taking 
consideration for the findings within the LGSCO’s letter.  

 
5.12 The LGSCO are unsighted on Stage 1 and 2 complaints so the Executive are 

reminded that Bracknell Forest Council takes all complaints seriously and looks to 
resolve complaints at stage 1 or 2 of the complaints process wherever possible to 
prevent them escalating any further.  Complaints and their outcomes are monitored 
through the Quarterly Service Reports (QSRs).   

 
 
6 Consultation and Other Considerations 

 
 Legal Advice 
 
6.1 The Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman (LGSCO) is the independent 

body responsible for investigating complaints made against public bodies where it is 
alleged that there has been maladministration causing injustice.  

 
The LGSCO can only investigate claims where there has been an allegation of 
maladministration by a public body that has caused personal injustice to the 
complainant. 
 
There is no specific definition of "maladministration", but it can include cases where a 
public body has taken, or has failed to take, action.  If there has been no 
maladministration, the LGSCO cannot investigate; it is only allowed to investigate the 
procedure behind the decision-making.  This means that the LGSCO will not 
investigate cases where the complainant merely disagrees with a decision that a 
public body has made. Maladministration is concerned with the manner in which 
public body decisions were reached and the ways that they were or were not 
implemented; it is not concerned with the decision itself.  
 
Once maladministration has been established, it must be confirmed that it has led to 
personal injustice for the complainant.  Injustice can include: 
 
 The time and trouble involved in pursuing a complaint against a public body. 
 The loss of a right or service, which the complainant is legitimately entitled to. 
 Costs associated with pursuing the complaint. 
 Inconvenience, worry, distress, and hurt feelings. 

 
It must also be proved that the injustice was caused by the public body and was not 
merely incidental. 
 
Financial Advice 
 

6.2 There are no financial implications arising from this report.  
 

68



 

 Other Consultation Responses 
6.3 None 
 

Equalities Impact Assessment 
 

6.4 There are no direct impact issues to be considered. 
 

Strategic Risk Management Issues 
 

6.5 The information the LGSCO reports to the council in its annual letter is publicly 
available.  This year, the LGSCO includes narrative that negatively impacts the 
council’s reputation.  The narrative includes subjectivity, and the council does not 
agree that this reflects the overall position for complaints handling.  

 
It is imperative that the council continues to review complaints management 
information and has in place a robust complaint handling procedure to resolve 
complaints and ensure procedures are complied to.  

 
 
 
Background Papers 
 
LGSCO Annual Review Letter 2021 
 
Contact for further information 
Katie Flint - Policy Officer, Chief Executive’s Office: 01344 352217 
Katie.flint@bracknell-forest.gov.uk  
  

69

mailto:Katie.flint@bracknell-forest.gov.uk


 

Annex A – Summary of upheld decisions 1 April 2020 to 31 March 2021 

 
 

Service area: School Transport 11 August 2020 

The Ombudsman has discontinued his investigation into Mrs X's complaint about the 
Council's decision not to provide school transport for her son.  The Council offered to pay 
Mrs X £500 to cover the costs of school transport which has resolved the outstanding issue 
and no further action by the Ombudsman is needed. 

Service area: Alternative Provision 12 November 2020 

Mrs X complained that the Council failed to recognise it had a duty to provide alternative 
education for her son when he was out of school for health reasons and failed to ensure he 
received the support set out in his Education Health and Care Plan.  The Council was at 
fault in failing to recognise its duties, failing to have proper policies and procedures in place, 
and failing to provide education.  The Council has offered a suitable remedy including an 
apology, a payment for lost education and a review of policies and procedures. 

Service area: Transport 18 December 2020 

Mr X complains the Council failed to properly assess his application for a Blue Badge.  He 
says the Council's handling of his application caused him distress and inconvenience.  The 
Ombudsman finds the Council at fault for the way it explained its decision to Mr X and for 
failing to have an appeals process.  To remedy the injustice this caused Mr X, the Council 
has agreed to apologise and make Mr X a payment for the distress and uncertainty.  It has 
also introduced service improvements, including a Blue Badge review process. 

Service area: Special educational needs 26 February 2021 

Mrs X complains the Council delayed in issuing the final Education, Health and Care (ECH) 
plan for her son.  She also complains the Council failed to provide suitable full-time 
education for her son after she stopped home education.  We find fault with the Council. We 
have made recommendations. 

70



TO: The Executive 
19 October 2021 

  
 

Council Plan Overview Report 
Chief Executive  

 

1 Purpose of Report 

1.1 To inform the Executive of the performance of the council over the first quarter of the 
2020/21 financial year (April-June 2021). 

2 Recommendation 

2.1 To note the performance of the council over the period from April-June 2021 
highlighted in the Overview Report in Annex A.  

3 Reasons for Recommendation 

3.1 To brief the Executive on the council’s performance, highlighting key areas, so that 
appropriate action can be taken if needed. 

4 Alternative Options Considered 

4.1 None applicable. 

5 Supporting Information 

Quarterly Service Reports 

5.1 The council’s performance management framework provides for the preparation of 
Quarterly Service Reports (QSRs) by each department. These QSRs provide an 
update of progress and performance against departmental Service Plans and are 
published on the council website. 

 Council Plan Overview Report 

5.2 The QSRs have been combined into the Council Plan Overview Report (CPOR), which 
brings together the progress and performance of the council as a whole. The CPOR 
enables the Corporate Management Team and the Executive to review performance, 
highlight any exceptions and note any remedial actions that may be necessary, either 
from under-performing or over-performing services, across the range of council 
activities.  

Overview & Scrutiny 

5.3 The CPOR will also be considered by Overview & Scrutiny. This process enables all 
Members to be involved in performance management. 

5.4 The CPOR for the first quarter (April-June 2021) is shown in Annex A. 

6 Advice Received from Statutory and Other Officers 

Borough Solicitor 

6.1 There are no specific legal issues arising from this report. 

Borough Treasurer 

6.2 There are no direct financial implications arising from this report. 

Equalities Impact Assessment 

6.3 Not applicable. 

71

Agenda Item 8



Strategic Risk Management Issues  

6.4 Any specific issues are included in the QSRs and in the CPOR in Annex A. 

Other Officers 

6.5 Not applicable. 

7 Consultation 

 Principal Groups Consulted 

7.1 Not applicable. 

 Method of Consultation 

7.2 Not applicable. 

 Representations Received 

7.3 None. 

Background Papers 
QSR – People Directorate – Quarter 1 2021/22 
QSR – Delivery Directorate – Quarter 1 2021/22 
QSR – Central Directorates – Quarter 1 2021/22 
 
Contact for further information 
Timothy Wheadon, Chief Executive - 01344 345601 
Timothy.Wheadon@bracknell-forest.gov.uk 
 
John Ainsworth, Business Intelligence Analyst – 01344 352174 
John.Ainsworth@bracknell-forest.gov.uk 
 
 
 
 

72

mailto:Timothy.Wheadon@bracknell-forest.gov.uk
mailto:John.Ainsworth@bracknell-forest.gov.uk


  Annex A 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 

 
COUNCIL PLAN 
OVERVIEW 
REPORT 
 
 

 
 
 
 

Q1 2021 - 22 
April – June 2021 
 
 
 

Chief Executive: 
Timothy Wheadon 

73



 

 
CPOR – Quarter 1 2021/22  Page 2 

Contents 
 

Section 1: Chief Executive’s Commentary ................................... 3 
Section 2: Budget Position ............................................................. 6 
Section 3: Strategic Themes ........................................................ 10 

Value for money .......................................................................... 10 
Economic resilience .................................................................... 11 
Education and skills .................................................................... 12 
Caring for you and your family ................................................... 15 
Protecting and enhancing our environment ............................. 17 

Section 4: Corporate Health ......................................................... 22 
a) Summary of People ............................................................... 22 
c) Strategic Risks and Audits ..................................................... 25 

 

Key  
 

 

Performance is very good 

 

Performance is causing concern 

 

Performance is weak 

 RAG rating not applicable  

 Missing data 

 Missing target 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

74



 

 
CPOR – Quarter 1 2021/22  Page 3 

Section 1: Chief Executive’s Commentary 
 

1 Introduction  
 
1.1 This report sets out an overview of the council’s performance for the first quarter of 

2021/22 (April - June 2021).  The purpose is to formally provide the Executive with a 
high-level summary of key achievements, and to highlight areas where performance 
was not matching targets or expectations, along with any remedial action that is 
being taken.  It complements the detailed Quarterly Service Reports (QSRs) and is 
based upon the performance data that is available to all Members online. 
 

1.2 As everyone will know the council continues to function in the context of the Covid-19 
pandemic and many Members and staff have been focused on leading our 
community response. This is the first quarterly report of the 2021/22 financial year, 
and it reflects the changes made to the list of service plan actions as part of our 
annual service plan refresh.  As part of this refresh, several new actions relating to 
the council’s Covid-19 response have been included under a new heading labeled 
Covid-19 in section 3. With the new actions in place, at the end of the first quarter 
progress showed:  
 

▪ 91 actions (88%) are green (4 complete, 87 in progress) 

▪ 11 actions (11%) are amber (1 complete, 10 in progress) 

▪ 1 action (1%) is red (in progress) 
 
1.3 Section 3 of this report contains information on the performance indicators across the 

council for each of the strategic themes.  Again, the picture was positive particularly 
in the face of the Covid-19 pandemic.  Of course, in a number of the “red” cases, the 
indicator is meaningless in relation to performance.  Obvious examples include 
number of events held at libraries which continue to operate at reduced capacity. The 
status for the key indicators in the Council Plan in the first quarter is: 

 

▪ 28 (80%) green 

▪ 2 (6%) amber 

▪ 5 (14%) red 
 

21 further indicators have no set target or data is currently unavailable. 
 

2.       Overview of Q1 and what went especially well 
 
2.1 Putting these challenges to one side, teams delivered services to a high standard 

during the period, especially in response to Covid-19.  I have highlighted here a small 
selection of examples from across the organisation. 

 
2.2  Staff continue to work effectively almost exclusively from home, though an increasing 

number are starting to return to the office periodically. Plans for a gentle return to the 
workplace have been in hand with the budget agreed to undertake remodelling works 
at Time Square to create a community and collaboration hub. This will be helpful to 
facilitate closer joint working across the different services and ensure a consistency 
of approach to the organisation. 

 
2.3 Following the departure of Trish Barnard on health grounds earlier in the year, a 

national recruitment campaign was undertaken to fill the vacant Assistant Director: 
HR and OD position.  Having assessed a range of potential candidates, the 
Employment Panel unanimously agreed to appoint the internal candidate, Paul 

75



 

 
CPOR – Quarter 1 2021/22  Page 4 

Young.  In parallel with this appointment, a revised structure for the HR and OD team 
was agreed in consultation with the staff and the Employment Committee endorsed a 
refreshed Workforce and OD strategy, which provides a clear focus for the team’s 
work over the period to 2024. 

 
2.4 One of the immediate activities highlighted in the new Workforce and OD strategy is 

delivery of a Mindful People Management programme, which has been attended by 
190 managers across all service areas.  Within the same broad strategy theme, 
attention has been drawn to the equality and diversity eLearning module, which has 
been completed by 144 staff since 1 April.  In order to help inform development of a 
comprehensive learning and development offer a skills survey was undertaken 
across the organisation.  The findings from this are being analysed and are soon to 
be presented for discussion with managers. 

 
2.5 This quarter saw parts of the council adapting to the national changes in the 

Governments Covid Roadmap.  This included the gradual re-opening of the town 
centre, with the Forest Giants event planned for late summer.  The Look Out 
Discovery Centre has also moved towards increasing the access to services in line 
with national advice. 

 
2.6 A key focus in this period was the cross-council approach to surge testing in College 

Town, Sandhurst which was led by the Public Health Team, and focussed on testing 
in the south of the Borough.  This was a key priority during this period and was 
successfully completed with the aim of managing increasing outbreaks across the 
borough. 

 
2.7 Within Highways and Transport the team successfully completed the A3095 highway 

improvement scheme which has been the largest project we have delivered in recent 
years. Works on the A322 Sports Centre Roundabout improvement scheme have 
started and are currently on programme. 

 
2.8 The property Joint Venture with Countryside continues to make good progress 

developing detailed delivery plans for the Coopers Hill and Market Street sites.  It is 
expected that a final site delivery plan including updated financial inputs and returns 
for Coopers Hill will be presented to the Council for formal consideration later in 
2021, with Market Street following early in 2022, subject to planning approval being 
granted. 

 
2.9 A major compliance milestone was achieved by legal services. The Information 

Commissioner’s Office (ICO) completed their follow up audit of the council’s 
Information Governance arrangements and reported back that the council’s progress 
in strengthening our arrangements had continued in line with their expectations. 

 
2.10 The Education and Learning team continue to work closely with colleagues from 

Children's Support Services to provide high quality support for the transition of 
children and young people with SEND. The Behaviour Support Team have provided 
schools with updated guidance and materials which schools are using with their 
vulnerable pupils to support personal development and wellbeing as they transition 
from Year 6 to Year 7.  Recommendations proposed by the Transition Working Party 
were approved by all schools, leading to effective and consistent sharing of key 
information to support transition from primary to secondary school, both pastoral and 
academic.  

 
2.11 Standards and Effectiveness Partners continue to work directly with individual 

schools to support them in ensuring that the curriculum is well matched to the needs 
of pupils with SEND, and that they are well supported at key transition points, 
including through the sharing of effective assessment information as they move on to 

76



 

 
CPOR – Quarter 1 2021/22  Page 5 

the next year group within the school. The Standards and Effectiveness Team have 
also provided additional support to schools on assessing pupils in the Early Years 
Foundation Stage, so that key gaps in learning can be identified as they move into 
Year 1.  

 
2.12 The discretionary Additional Restrictions Grant proved to be particularly time 

consuming for the Revenue Services team to administer, as it was aimed at 
businesses not previously known to the service, as they were not paying business 
rates.  With support from the wider Finance team, 100% of our £3.6m Additional 
Restrictions grant from central government was paid out to small local businesses 
including Taxi Drivers, Hairdressers, personal trainers, wedding photographers, 
beauticians and driving instructors.  As we were successful in distributing our initial 
grant allocation, the council has been provided with an additional £800k to help those 
small businesses most in need over the remainder of this financial year. 

 
2.13 Finally, quarter one saw the first meeting of the Members Climate Change Advisory 

Panel.  The panel received their first report from the council’s Climate Change action 
plan. This reported that our food waste collection project continues to receive strong 
support from the community, that work to decarbonise continues at pace, with the 
council’s energy purchases completely moved over to renewables. In addition, that 
central governments funds have been secured for decarbonisation of schools and the 
completion of a retrofit scheme for domestic properties.    

 
2.14 In picking out these highlights there is a real danger of overlooking the special efforts 

of teams who are not mentioned.  The simple fact is that the whole organisation 
continues to adapt magnificently and is delivering effective services. 

 

What are we doing about things not going so well? 
 
3.1 The percentage of invoices paid within 30 days has fallen significantly during the first 

quarter of the year.  This is in part due to a review of the calculation methodology, 
which highlighted some anomalies in approach taken, but also reflects increasing 
delays in the process of registering and approving invoices before they can be paid.  
Detailed investigations are on-going to highlight specific areas where improvements 
need to be made. 

 
3.2 While returns being achieved on cash investments remain close to zero, the council’s 

current healthy cash position means that overall borrowings have reduced, and 
Treasury costs are therefore lower than expected. 

 
Forward Look 
 
Going forward, the council’s strategic objectives will continue to progress in the coming 
weeks albeit within the context of the council’s community response to Covid-19 which has 
been incorporated into department service plans. 

 

Timothy Wheadon 
Chief Executive 

77



 

 
CPOR – Quarter 1 2021/22  Page 6 

Section 2: Budget Position  

 
REVENUE BUDGET MONITORING 

The monthly monitoring returns are set out in detail in each directorate’s Quarterly Service 
Report (QSR).   

Due to the impact of the pandemic on the current years’ budget and the resulting 
uncertainty, a range of potential outcomes have been considered. The returns now include 
estimated best and worst case scenarios which reflect actual expenditure to date plus a 
range of financial predictions from Assistant Directors covering the remainder of the year. 
Across the Council, variances have been identified indicating expenditure is above the 
approved budget (£1.438m Best Case and £3.659m Worst Case) after taking into account 
the Corporate Contingency (£1.280m) and income compensation for the first quarter. This 
figure excludes use of the £3.417m balance on the COVID-19 Contingency which would 
produce an overall variance of -£1.979m Best Case and +£0.242m Worst Case. 

Key information around directorate variances being reported follows.  

 

 

78



 

 
CPOR – Quarter 1 2021/22  Page 7 

 

 

79



 

 
CPOR – Quarter 1 2021/22  Page 8 

 

 

80



 

 
CPOR – Quarter 1 2021/22  Page 9 

 

 

 

 

 

81



 

 
CPOR – Quarter 1 2021/22  Page 10 

Section 3: Strategic Themes 

Value for money 

 

82



 

 
CPOR – Quarter 1 2021/22  Page 11 

 
 
 

Economic resilience 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

83



 

 
CPOR – Quarter 1 2021/22  Page 12 

Education and skills 
 

 

84



 

 
CPOR – Quarter 1 2021/22  Page 13 

 

85



 

 
CPOR – Quarter 1 2021/22  Page 14 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  
 

82.0% 

82.0% 

82.0% 

86



 

 
CPOR – Quarter 1 2021/22  Page 15 

Caring for you and your family 

 

87



 

 
CPOR – Quarter 1 2021/22  Page 16 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 

88



 

 
CPOR – Quarter 1 2021/22  Page 17 

Protecting and enhancing our environment 
 

 
 

89



 

 
CPOR – Quarter 1 2021/22  Page 18 

 
 
 
 
 
 

90



 

 
CPOR – Quarter 1 2021/22  Page 19 

Communities 
 

 

91



 

 
CPOR – Quarter 1 2021/22  Page 20 

 
 

 
 
 

92



 

 
CPOR – Quarter 1 2021/22  Page 21 

Covid-19 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

93



 

 
CPOR – Quarter 1 2021/22  Page 22 

Section 4: Corporate Health  

 

a) Summary of People  
 

Staff Voluntary Turnover 
 

Department 
Previous 
Figure* 

For the last 
4 quarters 

Notes 

People 13.28% 14.22%  

Delivery 7.61% 10.15%  

Resources 5.26% 7.36%  

PPR 8.86% 10.32%  

Chief Executive’s Office 5% 5.26%  

Total Voluntary Turnover 11.16% 12.15%  

    * This figure relates to the previous 4 quarters and is taken from the preceding CPOR.  

 
Comparator data % 

Total voluntary turnover for BFC, 2020/21:                         11.2% 

Average voluntary turnover rate UK public sector 2016:                     10.0% 

Average Local Government England voluntary turnover 2016:   14.0% 

    (Source: XPertHR Staff Turnover Rates and Cost Survey 2016 and LGA Workforce Survey 2016) 

94



 

 
CPOR – Quarter 1 2021/22  Page 23 

Staff Sickness 
 

Department 
Quarter 4 

20/21 (days 
per employee) 

Previous Financial 
Year (Actual 

Average days per 
employee) 

2020/21 Estimated 
Annual Average 

(days per 
employee) 

Notes 

People 1.6 5.93 6.4  

Delivery 1.14 7.67 4.56  

PPR 0.53 2.47 2.12  

Resources 1.32 4.65 5.28  

Chief Executive’s 
Office 

1.64 2.3 6.56 
 

Total staff 
sickness excluding 
maintained 
schools 

1.36 5.67 5.44 

 

 
 

Comparator data All employees, average days 
sickness absence per employee 

Bracknell Forest Council (Non-Schools) 20/21                         5.67 days 

English Local Authorities 2017/18       8.6 days 

(Source: Local Government Workforce Survey 2017/18) 

 
People 
Sickness absence has remained steady over the last quarter. Adult Social Care shows a 

substantial reduction from Q3 as does Early Help & Communities.  Education and Learning 

and Mental Health and Out of hours absence levels have increased this quarter.  Just over 

half (53%) of the absence for Q4 was attributed to long term sickness. 

Covid related sickness absence stands at 1.8% of the total absence this quarter which has 

decreased substantially. 

Delivery 
Absence this quarter has decreased compared to Quarter 4.  All areas except Contract 
Services have reduced this quarter however Contract Services levels still remain low overall.  
In total approx. 28% of the absence was due to long term sickness – this is a marked 
decrease from the previous quarter and there is now only 1 member of staff off on long term 
sick within the Directorate. There was no Covid-19 related sickness absence in the last 
quarter. 
 
Central 
Absence levels have risen slightly since the last quarter. 39% of the absence is down to long 

term sickness cases 1 of these staff have since left the authority leaving 2 who remain 

absent. Covid-19 sickness counts for less than 1% of the total absence this quarter which 

has decreased substantially. 

 
 

95



 

 
CPOR – Quarter 1 2021/22  Page 24 

b) Summary of Complaints  
 

Department Type of 
complaint 

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 
Total 

cumulative 
complaints 

Outcome of all complaints received year 
to date 

People: Adults Statutory 
13    13 

4 – upheld/fully substantiated 
5 – partially upheld/partially substantiated 
4 – not upheld/not substantiated 

Local 
Government 
Ombudsman 

0     

 

People: Childrens Statutory stage 1 

23    23 

4 – in progress 
4 – upheld/fully substantiated 
6 – partially upheld/partially substantiated 
6 – not upheld/not substantiated 
2 - no finding made 
1 – proceeded to stage 2 

Statutory stage 2 1    1 1 – in progress 

Statutory stage 3 0    0 
 

Stage 2 1    1 1 - in progress 

Stage 3 0    0 
 

Local 
Government 
Ombudsman 

0    0 
 
 

People: Housing 

Stage 2 1    1 1 - partially  
Stage 3 0    0  

Local 
Government 
Ombudsman 

0    0 
 

Central Stage 2 1    1 1 – in progress 

Stage 3 2    2 2 – not upheld 

Local 
Government 
Ombudsman 

3    3 
1 – in progress 
2 – not upheld 

Delivery Stage 2 1    1 1 – not upheld 

Stage 3 0    0  

Local 
Government 
Ombudsman 

0    0 

 

 
People: Adults 
There were 13 complaints in quarter 1.  Compared to this time last year, this is one more.  
 
People: Childrens 
There were 25 complaints in quarter 1.  Compared to this time last year, the figure is up from 
18. This is 7 more.   
 
Central 
There were 6 complaints in quarter 1.  Compared to this time last year, the figure is down 
from 11.  This is 5 less.   
 
Delivery 
There was 1 complaint in quarter 1.  Compared to this time last year, the figure is up by 1 
from none. 

96



 

 
CPOR – Quarter 1 2021/22  Page 25 

c) Strategic Risks and Audits 

During quarter 1 the Register was reviewed by the Strategic Risk Management Group on 
18th May 2021.  The following changes were agreed:  

 To remove the Brexit risks and incorporate any impact from Brexit in the remaining 

risks;  

 To reduce the COVID risk score. 

 

97



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

99

Agenda Item 10
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

105

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

181

Agenda Item 11
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

201

Agenda Item 12
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

211

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

215

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

219

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

221

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	5 Revised Local Development Scheme, 2021-2024
	Local Development Scheme 2021-24
	1 Purpose of a Local Development Scheme
	2 Current Development Plan
	3 Planned documents
	4 Risk assessment
	5 Monitoring and review
	6 Glossary of terms


	6 Making (adoption) of the Bracknell Town Neighbourhood Plan 2016-2036
	Appendix A. Bracknell Town NPR Declaration
	Deputy Counting Officer (Full Powers)
	Dated: 7 May 2021

	Appendix B - Decision Statement pursuant to Regulation 19
	Appendix C. EqIA form for Bracknell Town NDP_signed

	7 Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman Annual Review Letter
	8 Council Plan Overview Report
	CPOR Q1 Apr-Jun 2021

	10 Market Street Options Report
	Bracknell Block D Strategy Aug21 FINAL for issue

	11 Buckler’s Park Community Hub and Facilities
	12 Binfield Community and Health Care Hub
	Appendix 1 - Design
	Appendix 2 - Cost Update
	Appendix 3 - Management options BM community hub v1.0
	Appendix 4 - EIA




